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The ACB Grenada Bank Annual Report 
aligns with the ethos of BUILDING...
Bigger, Better, Bolder. It reflects a year 
where we transcended banking norms, 
aimed for simpler, improved, and bolder 
strides in our financial journey - together.  
 
Traditional banking took on a new 
meaning as we focused on fostering 
meaningful connections and contributing 
to your prosperity through simply smarter 
banking. Your confidence fueled our 
efforts, and loyalty remains the bedrock 
of our endeavors. Complementing 
innovation with greater physical presence, 
we mindfully address your needs and 
enhance all banking conveniences.  
 
This report is our commitment to you. In 
2022, ACB Grenada Bank was more than 
a Bank; we were your financial partner, 
paving the way for a future, built on 
simplicity, improvement, and bold strides 
toward shared success.

BUILDING...
BIGGER, BETTER, BOLDER



Empowering those we serve to 
achieve wealth and value beyond 
their expectations.
 

Shaping Success; Creating 
Opportunities; Easy Banking

Our 
Vision
Purpose 
Statement
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Corporate Information

REGISTERED OFFICE AND 
POSTAL ADDRESS

Grand Anse, St. George, Grenada

SERVICE LOCATIONS	     

Grand Anse Branch: Grand Anse, St. 
George, Grenada

True Blue Campus Branch: True Blue, 
St. George, Grenada 

St. George Branch: Melville Street, St. 
George’s, St George, Grenada 

ATM LOCATIONS 

Melville St. – St. George’s, St. 
George, Grenada 

Grand Anse Branch - Grand Anse, St. 
George, Grenada

True Blue Campus Branch - True Blue, 
St. George, Grenada

St. George’s University Campus - True 
Blue, St. George, Grenada

EMAIL ADDRESS
grenadasupport@acbonline.com 

WEBSITE                                
www.acbonline.com

CONTACT NUMBER
(473) 444-4919

FAX NUMBER	
(473) 444-2807

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Grant Thornton, 11 Old Parham 
Road, St. John’s, Antigua

CORRESPONDENT BANKING 
RELATIONSHIPS

Bank of America

Bank of Montreal 

Bank of Saint Lucia	 Limited

Bank of St. Vincent and the 
Grenadines Limited

Crown Agents Bank 

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

1st National Bank of St. Lucia Ltd.

National Bank of Dominica Ltd.

National Commercial Bank of 
Anguilla Limited

Republic Bank (Barbados) Ltd.

Republic Bank (Grenada) Limited

Sagicor Bank Jamaica Ltd.

St. Kitts – Nevis - Anguilla National 
Bank Limited
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At ACB GRENADA BANK, we are not just expanding to reach 
you where you need us most; we are even bigger on service, 

bigger on smiles, and bigger on satisfying every customer.

GROWING BIGGER, SERVING BIGGER

BUILDING...
BIGGER, BETTER, BOLDER
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the FORTIETH (40th) ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
of ACB GRENADA BANK LTD. will be held via hybrid format (both online and 
in – person), on Thursday May 2, 2024 at 10:00 am. The event will be hosted 
at the Spice Island Beach Resort, Grand Anse Beach, St. George, Grenada.   
Online attendance will be facilitated through the Zoom Webinar Platform.  
Pre- registration to attend will be required.

Agenda

1. 	 Call to Order

2. 	 Prayers

3. 	 Adoption of Agenda

4. 	 Chairman’s Remarks

5. 	 Present the Chairman’s  and Directors’ Reports

6. 	 Consider the Financial Statements for the year ended September 30, 
2022 and the report of the Auditors

7. 	 Elect Directors 

8. 	 Declare a Dividend for the financial year ended September 30, 2022 

9. 	 Appoint the External Auditors for the year ended September 30, 2023 
and  authorize the Board to fix their remuneration

10. 	 Transact any other business which may properly come before an 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

RHODETTE  PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY

April 4, 2024
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Our commitment is always to deliver an experience where 
better banking meets smarter solutions, as we continuously 
innovate with technologies designed to enhance your life.

BANKING BETTER, LIVING SMARTER

BUILDING...
BIGGER, BETTER, BOLDER
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Chairman’s Report

Sharon A. Matthew – 
Edwards
Chairman
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Dear Shareholders,

It is with great honor that I present 
to you the Chairman’s Report 
for ACB Grenada Bank for the 
transformative year of 2022. Our 
journey this year, under the banner 
“Bigger, Better, Bolder,” has 
been one of strategic expansion, 
notable achievements, and 
steadfast dedication to our Core 
Values, amidst the challenges of 
the global economic landscape.

Economic Context and 
Performance: A Bolder Approach

In an environment where the 
Grenadian economy has shown 
resilience and growth, particularly 
fueled by the revival of the tourism 
sector, our Bank has mirrored this 
positive trend. We have achieved 
a modest growth in our credit 
portfolio by 2% and an increase 
in interest income by 3%. These 
results, though modest, symbolize 
our journey towards becoming a 
Bank for all as we continue to find 
our place in the market and focus 
on growth rather than short term 
goals. 

In alignment with our ‘Bolder’ 
theme, we’ve seen an 81% growth 
in our Investment Securities, 
leading to a significant surge in 
related Interest Income by 130%. 
This is a direct result of our bold 
strategic responses to global 
economic shifts, particularly 
influenced by the rate adjustments 
from the US Federal Reserve.  As 
at September 30, 2022, our market 
share on Loans and Deposits 
remained fairly stable at 7% and 
9% respectively, with the latter 
increasing by 40%.   

Our Commitment to Shareholder 
Engagement: Building Better 
Relationships

True to our ‘Better’ commitment, we 
have deepened our engagement 
with you, our Shareholders, 
through the publication of the 

Quarterly Shareholders Education 
Newsletter. This effort ensures that 
we maintain an open, transparent 
dialogue, keeping you informed 
and involved in our collective 
journey towards growth and 
excellence.

Branch Expansion in Grenada: 
Expanding Our Horizons

The opening of our Melville 
Street Branch is a testament 
to our ‘Bigger’ aspirations, 
reflecting our commitment to 
bringing personalized, accessible 
financial services to the heart of 
the Grenadian community. This 
expansion is a clear indication 
of our commitment to growth 
and our dedication to being 
‘Better’ and ‘Bolder’ in serving our 
customers.

Empowerment Through 
Education: A Bolder Legacy

In our pursuit to create a ‘Bolder’ 
legacy, we introduced the ACB 
Grenada Bank/St. George’s 
University Scholarship Programme, 
reaffirming our commitment to 
empowering the youth through 
education. This initiative is a 
reflection of our ‘Better’ approach 
to community engagement and 
our belief in the transformative 
power of education.

Looking Ahead: Embracing a 
Bigger, Better, Bolder Future

As we look forward, ACB Grenada 
Bank remains committed to 
enhancing our profitability, 
resilience, and community value. 
Our journey towards a ‘Bigger, 
Better, Bolder’ future is fueled by 
our dedication to deepening 
financial partnerships, embracing 
innovative technologies, 
and investing in our team’s 
development. Our resolve to 
deliver best-in-class customer 
care has never been stronger.

In conclusion, I extend my heartfelt 
gratitude to our Shareholders, 
dedicated Employees and 
Customers. Your trust and support 
are the pillars of our ‘Bigger, Better, 
Bolder’ journey towards continued 
growth and success. Together, 
we are poised to navigate future 
challenges and opportunities, 
united in our vision and resolve.

With warmest regards,

Sharon A. Matthew – Edwards
Chairman
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Board of Directors
as at September 30, 2022

Our Board is committed to excellence in 
corporate governance, having established a 
structure that enables Members to continue 
to perform their responsibilities and duties that 
are aligned to the Group’s Core Values.

“

“
Sharon A. Matthew – Edwards
Chairman

Dorsett Cromwell
Deputy Chairman

Ron Antoine
Director
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Board of Directors Cont’d
as at September 30, 2022

Joanna Charles
Director

Sandra Derrick
DirectorLorraine Raeburn

Director
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OVERVIEW

This Report serves to highlight the Board’s work throughout the financial year ended September 30, 2022, 
together with key insights into the Governance Structure under which it operates.  As a subsidiary company 
of ACB Caribbean Group (“the Group”), the Board of Directors of ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. (“the Bank”; 
“the Company”) has adopted the Shared Governance Model, founded on the cornerstone principles of 
partnership, equity, accountability and ownership that promotes collaboration and shared decision making. 

Comprised of diverse, high – calibre Members with varying expertise, the Board seeks to promote the Bank’s 
long-term success, deliver sustainable value to Shareholders and promote a culture of open engagement.  
The Board also takes seriously its role to support effective and high standards of governance across the 
Group. It also recognizes the need to balance the interests of its Stakeholders, including its Shareholders, 
Customers, Employees and generally, the Community in which it operates.

The Board is guided by the Bank’s Bylaws, applicable Legislative and Regulatory provisions, its Governance 
Policies and Procedures and evolving best practices in effective risk management and corporate culture.  
The Board sets the purpose, strategic direction and risk appetite of the Bank and is the ultimate decision – 
making body, covering matters with strategic, financial, regulatory and reputational significance.  

As the Bank continues to work to serve its Stakeholders, the importance of setting the right tone at the top 
of the organization is recognized. Inspired by the Group’s newly adopted Purpose Statement: “Shaping 
Success; Creating Opportunities; Easy Banking”, Board Members continue to perform their duties and 
responsibilities that are aligned to the Group’s Core Values.  

THE BOARD’S ROLE

Led by its Chairman, the Board is responsible, among other matters, for:

•	 establishing and approving the Bank’s strategy and objectives, and monitoring the alignment to the 
Group’s overall purpose, strategy and values with the desired culture

•	 setting the Bank’s risk appetite and monitoring the Bank’s risk profile
•	 approving and monitoring capital and financial resource plans for achieving strategic objectives, 

including material transactions 
•	 considering and approving the Bank’s technology, environmental, social and governance strategies 

and  
•	 reviewing the Bank’s  corporate governance structure, as determined suitable for the Bank’s business 

operations in the context of subsidiary governance best practices.
Day – to- day management of the business and implementation of strategy is delegated to Management.

RESPONSIBILITY ACTIVITIES
Conduct and culture •	 Promoted standards of desired behaviors that apply to Directors, Managers 

and all Employees in accordance with the ACB Caribbean Group’s Code 
of Business Conduct.

Directors’ Report
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RESPONSIBILITY ACTIVITIES
Strategic Direction •	 Approved the Bank’s new Strategic Plan 2022 to 2025

•	 Oversaw the Bank’s strategic direction, plans and priorities and ensured that 
they aligned with our risk appetite with quarterly reporting by Management

•	 Reviewed and approved the Bank’s updated Organizational Structure
•	 Assessed the Bank’s performance against:

*	 past performance
*	 financial and other objectives established in budget projections
*	 industry peers.

Governance •	 Monitored best governance practices and developed principles and 
guidelines

•	 Reviewed the Bank’s existing policies on a bi-annual basis, in accordance 
with best practice

•	 Conducted refresher training for the disclosure and management of 
conflicts of interests

•	 Reviewed and adopted structures and procedures to allow the Board to 
function more effectively and independently.

Risk Oversight •	 Promoted a strong risk management culture based on a clear 
understanding of applicable risks, disciplined risk assessment, measurement 
procedures and continuous monitoring

•	 Enhanced the provisions of the Bank’s Pandemic Preparedness, Response 
and Continuity Plan to suit changed circumstances.

Technological 
Enhancement

•	 Ensured that IT strategy was aligned with business strategy
•	 Reviewed IT risks and approved substantial investment in the upgrade of 

the Bank’s Network Infrastructure.
Financial reporting 
and internal controls

•	 Oversaw compliance with applicable audit, accounting and financial 
reporting requirements

•	 Monitored Management’s implementation and maintenance of effective 
internal control systems, including management information systems and 
assessed their adequacy and effectiveness.

Talent management 
and succession 
planning

•	 Reviewed strategies and programmes for assessment and development of 
talent

•	 Participated in a Leadership Development Programme with the Bank’s 
Management Team and exercised oversight over the progress made during 
the period.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

As at the 2022 financial year end, the Board was comprised of a majority (83%) of Non- Executive Directors 
that do not participate in the day-to-day administration of the Bank, nor engage in any business dealings 
or other relationships with the Bank (other than circumstances permitted by applicable regulations).  This 
ensures that Directors remain capable of exercising independent judgment and act in the best interests of 
the Bank.  

The Bank remains in strict compliance with Regulatory Guidelines that prescribe that the Bank must maintain 
at least a 20% ratio of independent Directors on the Board.

It is noteworthy that, as detailed later in this Report, in light of the changes to the Board’s composition, 
subsequent to the financial year end, the Board as at the date of publication, comprised of all Non- 
Executive Directors (100%).
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OUR COMMITMENT TO HELPING OUR DIRECTORS SUCCEED IN THEIR ROLE

New Directors receive a thorough induction to the role, with the process being guided by the Bank’s Director 
Recruitment and Orientation Programme. 

Directors also have access to resources as part of the ongoing professional development focus of the 
Group to ensure that each Director is equipped with the right tools to perform their respective duties and 
responsibilities.  Areas of training for the period under review included: (i) Strategic Planning; (ii) Board 
Practices in a Digital Age; (iii) Expectations under ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance).

During the financial year, Directors participated in the following professional development activities:

•	 Management Technologies - Workshop on Strategic Planning, Execution and Oversight

•	 Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange (ECSE) - Webinar Series: 

(i)	 Driving Board Success with Emotional Intelligence

(ii)	 Business Continuity and Crisis Management in the Technological Age: A Strategic 
Journey

•	 Debevoise & Plimpton LLP - Webcast-AI Oversight Obligations for Directors

•	 Compliance Aid -  7th Compliance Aid Seminar & the 5th AMLFC Institute AML/CFT/CFP Conference

•	 Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB) – Management of Money Laundering / Terrorist Financing 
Risk – The Role of the Board of Directors in Providing Oversight. 

As at September 30, 2022, all Directors are accredited and renew their respective designations (Acc. Dir.) 
on an annual basis.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Bank’s Board of Directors is comprised of diverse and committed professionals, who demonstrate a 
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the Bank’s business.  The profiles of our 
Directors can be viewed on our website under the Investor Relations section at: https://gd.acbonline.com/
about-acb-grenada-bank-ltd/who-we-are-2/. 

According to section 5 of the Bank’s Articles of Continuance, the number of Directors shall not be less than 
five (5) and more than nine (9). Nominations to the Office of Director are guided by the provisions of the 
Bank’s Bylaws (Article 4.4) that requires the nomination to be submitted by Shareholders who represent in 
the aggregate, not less than five percent (5%) of the shares of the Company.

As at September 30, 2022, Sharon A. Matthew – Edwards is the appointed Chairman, assisted by her Deputy 
Chairman, Dorsett Cromwell and the remaining Members of the Board, Ron Antoine, Lorraine Raeburn, 
Sandra Derrick and Joanna Charles. The latter is the only Executive Director on the Board.

NOTEWORTHY CHANGES TO THE BOARD POST - FISCAL YEAR END

Subsequent to the financial year end, Directors Lorraine Raeburn and Joanna Charles retired at ACB 
Grenada Bank’s 39th Annual General Meeting held on April 20, 2023 and did not offer themselves for 
re-election.  Cassandra P. Simon and C. Kamilah Roberts were thereafter elected to the Board to fill the 
vacancies created on the same date.

BOARD MEMBER ROTATION

The Bank’s Bylaws detail the criteria for Board membership (Article 4.2), the nomination process (Article 
4.4), the terms and conditions of appointment (Article 4.3) and the circumstances under which a Director 
may be removed from the Board (Article 4.6.2). Board members are elected by Shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting in accordance with the established rotation system.
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Article 4.5 of the Bank’s Bylaws stipulates as follows:

“Term of Office

4.5.1 	 Unless his / her term of office is sooner determined, and subject to the Act, Regulations, Articles and 
By-laws:

a)   At the annual meeting next following the filing of the Articles, all the Directors shall retire and the 
term of office of directors elected by the shareholders at such meeting shall be for an expressly 
stated term expiring not later than the close of the third Annual Meeting following such election, 
and if no such term is expressly stated, it shall be deemed to be a term expiring at the close of 
the first Annual Meeting following such appointment or election.

b) 	A director appointed by the Board pursuant to the Articles or By-laws shall hold office from the 
date on which he / she is appointed until the close of the Annual Meeting next following such 
appointment;

c) 	 A director elected by the Shareholders to fill a vacancy shall hold office from the date on which 
he / she is elected  for the unexpired term of his / her predecessor; but any such director shall 
be eligible for re-election or appointment if qualified. For the purposes of this paragraph, the 
retirement and election of directors shall take effect on the conclusion of the meeting.”

The Bank has expressly adopted that the term of a Director shall be from the date of their election until the 
close of the second Annual Meeting following his / her election or re-election to Office.

At this year’s Annual General Meeting, Dorsett Cromwell, will retire upon rotation, noting that he was first 
elected to the Board on December 7, 2020. Being eligible, he has offered himself for re-election. No other 
Director is eligible for retirement under the provisions of the Bank’s Bylaws.

Further, as at the date of the publication of this Annual Report, no new nominations to the Office of Director 
were received from eligible Shareholders under Article 4.4 of the Bank’s Bylaws.

Accordingly, based on the above, the number of Directors to be elected / re-elected at this year’s Annual 
General Meeting is one (1).

OUR BOARD MEETINGS 

The Board of Directors meet at least once monthly, while Special Board Meetings are hosted, as the need 
arises.

Technology continues to feature prominently in the Board’s work and as such, to ensure timely access to 
information prior to each Board and Board Sub- Committee Meeting, the Group utilizes a secure Board 
Portal.  

With respect to Director Attendance at Board Meetings, a total of seventeen (17) Board Meetings (to include 
five (5) Special Board Meetings) were hosted as at September 30, 2022.  Director attendance ranged from 
88% to 100%.

OUR BOARD SUB-COMMITTEE

The Audit & Risk Management Committee, chaired by Sandra Derrick, is the only current standing Sub-
Committee of the Board.  The remaining Members of the Committee are: Dorsett Cromwell, Ron Antoine 
and Sharon A. Matthew – Edwards.

This Committee reports directly to the Board and is guided by its Terms of Reference which details the 
duties and responsibilities of the Committee as well as procedures for committee member appointment, 
committee structure and operations, and reporting to the Board.  

During the financial year, the Audit & Risk Management Committee hosted three (3) Committee Meetings 
with average Directors’ attendance ranging from 67% to 100%.
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The Bank, as part of the ACB Caribbean Group, has also accepted that the following Group Sub- 
Committees supplement the performance of the Board’s duties, as provided for under their respective 
Terms of Reference, including reporting to the Board, as from time to time required:

•	 Governance & Executive Committee 
•	 Credit Committee
•	 Human Resources & Compensation Committee
•	 Technology Committee
•	 Scholarship & Education Committee. 

The Board also reserves the right to establish or maintain additional Sub- Committees as may from time to 
time be required, deemed necessary or appropriate.

OUR APPROACH TO DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Governance & Executive Committee is responsible for all aspects of Directors’ remuneration and 
conducts periodic reviews, taking into account industry trends in this area, the overall expertise and 
experience required to sit on the Board, and the expected time commitment required of Directors.

Under Article 8.1 of the Bank’s Bylaws, the Board is responsible for approving Directors’ fees. Current Directors’ 
fees are as follows:

•	 Chairman’s fees - $2,500 per month
•	 Directors’ fees - $2,000 per month.

Directors who are appointed to represent the Bank at conferences, seminars or training courses, are entitled 
to be paid for their travelling and other expenses, as reasonably incurred, in accordance with the Group’s 
Overseas Travel Policy.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

As at September 30, 2022, no Director owns direct shareholding interest in the Bank. 

OUR SHAREHOLDING DISTRIBUTION

A Significant Shareholder or a Significant Security Holder is defined under relevant legislative and regulatory 
provisions, as a person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly or exercises control over voting or a 
combination of both, of more than ten percent (10%) of the total voting rights of the Company.  As at 
September 30, 2022, the Bank’s Shareholders Register reflects the following Significant Shareholders:

NAME  & ADDRESS OF SIGNIFICANT 
SHAREHOLDER

NO. OF ORDINARY 
SHARES HELD PERCENTAGE SHAREHOLDING

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD. TRADING AS 
ACB CARIBBEAN

Thames & St. Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
12,528,831 62.08%

NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD (GRENADA)
Melville Street, St. George’s Grenada

NATIONAL INSURANCE SCHEME (GRENADA)
Melville Street, St. George’s Grenada

3,026,924

1,008,973

15%

5% 
(20% in aggregate under common control)

NOTEWORTHY MENTION:
GRENADA PORTS AUTHORITY

The Carenage, St. George’s, Grenada 1,110,121 5.5%
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OUR SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT PRACTICES

Open Dialogue with Shareholders remains one of the Bank’s key priorities.  The Board encourages Shareholders 
to provide timely and meaningful feedback and regularly reviews its engagement with Shareholders for 
alignment with best practices.

During the financial year, the Group launched a quarterly Shareholders Education Newsletter, the first of 
which was published in May, 2022. These Newsletters are distributed digitally to Shareholders via email  and 
can also be accessed under the Investor Relations section on the Group’s corporate website via link, https://
gd.acbonline.com/shareholders-newsletters/.

Annual General Meeting related information was uploaded under the Investor Relations, Shareholders’ 
Packages section of the corporate website, https://gd.acbonline.com/shareholder-packages/ as at the 
approved record date, April 4, 2024.  Hard copies of all documents distributed are available upon advance 
request addressed to the Legal/ Secretariat Department via email: ACBSecretariat@acbonline.com  or at 
268 - 481- 4330/1/4.

DIVIDEND 

In accordance with Article 22 of the Bank’s Bylaws, the Board has resolved to recommend a dividend 
payment of $827,253 or $0.04 for each unit share on the existing shareholding distribution as at the record 
date, April 4, 2024, for the financial year ended September 30, 2022. 

The Board remains guided by the relevant sections of the Companies Act, 1994 (as amended), the Banking 
Act, 2015 (as amended) and ACB Caribbean Group’s Capital Management and Dividend Policy.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Bank’s External Auditors, Grant Thornton, will retire at the 40th Annual General Meeting and offer 
themselves for re-appointment. The Board supports the re-appointment.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 

RHODETTE PAIGE

LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY 
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Management Team (Grenada Based)
as at September 30, 2022

1.	 Kara Warner Country 
Manager

2.	 Mary Harford - Mitchell 
Manager Recoveries

3.	 Alex Samuel 
Client Relations 
Manager

4.	 Carol Alleyne 
Branch Manager – 
True Blue Campus 
Branch

5.	 Natasha Ottley 
Branch Manager – 
St. George Branch

6.	 Nicole 
Mitchell-Joseph  
Manager Mortgages

7.	 Desiree 
Mitchell-Prime  
Manager – 
Talent & Staff     
Development

8.	 Leslieann 
Harford - Roberts 
Manager – 
Customer Service

8.

5. 6.

2. 3.

4.

1.

7.
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Senior Management Team
as at September 30, 2022

Joanna Charles
General Manager

Kara Warner
Country Manager

Narcisse Moise
Chief Credit & Sales Officer

Vaughan Braithwaite
Chief Operations & 

Strategy Officer

Joyanne Byers
Senior Manager 

Finance & Accounting

Rhodette Paige  
Legal Counsel / 

Corporate Secretary

Austen Gittens
Senior Manager 

Internal Audit

Sidlow Frank
Senior Manager

Information Systems

Marita Laurent
Senior Manager 

Marketing & Corporate 
Communications

Sharon Nathaniel
Senior Manager

Risk & Compliance

Sherene Bird
Senior Manager

Human Resources
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Management’s 
Discussion And 
Analysis Overview

The International Monetary Fund in its 2023 Article IV 
Consultation Staff Report for Grenada estimated real 
GDP Growth in 2022 of 6.4% following a growth of 4.7% 
in 2021.   Inflation was reported at 1.9% as at the end of 
2021 and 2.9% at the end of 2022.   The aforementioned 
was indicative of the continued post-pandemic 
recovery.   The result of a recovering economy both 
globally and locally, is reflected in ACB Grenada 
Bank’s (“the Bank”) growth in some categories, such 
as a $1.7M or 27% increase in Net Interest income.   This 
is due to the higher than usual rates on CDs placed 
with Banks outside of the region.    

Despite this increase, and the 52% or $3.3 million increase 
in Operating Expenses, Net Income after Taxation 
reduced by 45% or $2.8 million. The major detractor 
was the substantial reduction in the provision recovery 
on loan losses of $5.6M that the Bank benefited from in 
2021, which was reduced to $1.6 million in the current 
fiscal.    Additionally, the decrease in Other Operating 
Income of $1.6 million also negatively affected the 
overall performance.

The contributing factors to this year’s performance are 
discussed below, in more detail.

GROSS INTEREST INCOME

When compared to the period ended September 
30, 2021, Gross Interest Income for the year under 
review increased significantly by 21% or $1.8 
million, largely driven by a 130% increase in Interest 
Income from Investment Securities and Due from 
Other Banks.   Increased global interest rates on 
CDs in 2022, also contributed to this performance.     
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Joanna Charles
General Manager

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Table of Contents



Table of Contents

23 ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

This category’s contribution to total Gross Interest 
Income was significant at 27% compared to 14% 
in the prior year, as efforts to grow the Investment 
Portfolio continued in earnest. 

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

While Net Interest income improved, Other  
Operating Income declined by 23% when compared 
to the 11 months ended September 30, 2021.  Fees 
and Commissions, which accounted for 39% of total 
Other Operating Income, fell by $0.348 million or 
14% attributed to fee structures under Royal Bank of 
Canada (RBC) that the Bank discontinued as they 
were deemed to be excessive.  Foreign Exchange 
Income (the second largest contributor to Other 
Operating Income), fell by 23% or $0.520 million.   The 
most significant contributor to the performance of 

this category was a $0.718 million or 50% reduction in 
written-off loan recoveries, which was not replicated 
in this period. 

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest Expense increased marginally by 4% when 
compared to the prior period, although Deposits Due 
to customers increased at a higher rate of 10% year-
on-year.   It must be noted that Demand Deposit 
Accounts which do not attract interest increased by 
23%, thus creating this offset. 

OPERATING EXPENSES

Total Expenses increased by $3.3 million year-on-
year.   The $1.6 million in Recovery for losses on 
financial assets as at September 30, 2022, represents 
a significant reduction when compared to the $5.7 
million reported in fiscal 2021.   

Whereas the recovery in the prior year was due to the 
change in provisioning policies on acquisition, the 
recoveries in the current year were attributable to 
updated valuation reports, thereby further reducing 
provision on non-performing facilities.

General and Administrative Expenses declined by 
$1.2 million or 11% when compared to the period 
ended September 30, 2021. This is attributed to the 
reduction in Employee Expenses of $1.1 million, driven 
by pension-related costs, and severance payments 
in the prior period, which were not repeated in 2022.

Legal and Professional Fees were reduced by $416K 
or 27% as the reliance on RBC for transition services, 
diminished by the third quarter of fiscal 2022. 
Audit fees decreased by $0.465 million because 
of a protracted audit process in 2021 which was 
significantly shorter in fiscal 2022.   On the other hand, 
Non-credit losses increased by $1.4 million mainly 
due to conversion challenges.      
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FINANCIAL POSITION

The Bank’s Asset base grew by 8% or $29 million 
when compared to September 30, 2021 driven by 
a commensurate augmentation in Deposit liabilities.   
The excess liquidity was channeled to investment 
securities and interest-bearing fixed deposits, thus 
contributing to the 130% increase in related interest 
income.    Loans and Advances also grew by $2.5 
million or 2% in line with the Bank’s growth trajectory 
and strategy to onboard good quality credit facilities.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
2020 2021 2022

Return on Assets 0.29% 1.6% 0.8%

Return on Equity 1.99% 9.8% 5.1%

Dividend Payout Percentage 
of Income 0% 25.0% 25.0%

Book value of ordinary shares 
($) 2.67 3.08 3.21

Earnings per share ($) 0.05 0.30 0.16

Dividends per ordinary Share 
($) 0.00 0.075 0.041

Provisions as a % of Loan 
Portfolio 9.78% 6.89% 5.59%

2020 2021 2022

Efficiency Ratio 88.58% 62.27% 73.38%

Net Interest Margin 5.67% 4.50% 3.56%

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 36.22% 47.20% 56.50%

CONCLUSION

Fiscal 2022 was the first full year of operations for ACB 
Grenada Bank Ltd. This allowed for a careful analysis 
of the business environment thereby informing the 
Strategic Plan for 2022 to 2025 that is better aligned 
to that of ACB Caribbean and the Grenada Market.   

As we continue on this journey with our Stakeholders, 
our commitment is predicated on these four (4) 
strategic pillars; 

i.	 Strengthening financial performance

ii.	 Enhancing customer value 

iii.	 Enhancing Operational Efficiency 

iv.	 Strengthening Alignment of intangible Assets. 

Joanna Charles
General Manager
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Embracing a bold new direction as we expand into new 
markets, our brand becomes a pivotal asset for growth, 
profitability, and enhanced community engagement, 

ensuring a brighter and more sustainable impact.

BOLDER BRAND, BRIGHTER IMPACT

BUILDING...
BIGGER, BETTER, BOLDER
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ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Statement of Financial Position
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2022ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Statement of Financial Position 
As of September 30, 2022 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

Notes 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Assets 
Cash and balances with the Central Bank   8 167,871,756 218,278,389 
Due from other banks   9 74,463,213 5,643,449 
Investment securities 13 33,042,217 18,229,161 
Loans and advances 11 120,572,255 118,037,452 
Property and equipment 14 6,570,980 5,895,229 
Right-of-use asset 15 963,839 574,639 
Deferred tax asset 18 42,861 185,801 
Income tax recoverable 18 728,838 1,075,825 
Pension asset 25 287,418 1,204,525 
Other assets 12 119,997 6,151,714 

Total Assets 404,663,374  375,276,184 

Liabilities and Equity 
Liabilities 
Customers’ deposits 16 324,297,255 294,809,352 
Due to parent company 10 6,180,468 10,372,920 
Provisions and other liabilities 17 8,175,296 7,356,516 
Lease liabilities 15 1,260,362 597,025 

Total Liabilities 339,913,381 313,135,813 

Equity 
Share capital 19 20,178,995 20,178,995 
Statutory reserve 20 15,999,563 15,337,761 
Other reserves 21 3,226,940 2,047,351 
Retained earnings 25,344,495 24,576,264 

Total Equity 64,749,993 62,140,371 

Total Liabilities and Equity 404,663,374 375,276,184 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on January 2, 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 

 Chairman    Director 

  Director 
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ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 
 
 Notes  2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
      
Interest income      
Income from loans and advances   7,621,754  7,410,848 
Income from securities and from deposits with other 
banks 

  
2,851,622 

 
1,239,410 

      
   10,473,376  8,650,258 
      
Interest expense      
Customers’ deposits   2,332,066  2,253,679 
Interest expense – lease liability   22,058  12,769 
      
   2,354,124  2,266,448 
      
      
Net interest income   8,119,252  6,383,810 
      
Other operating income 23  5,563,554  7,211,480 
      
Total income   13,682,806  13,595,290 
      
General and administrative expenses 24  9,400,685  10,600,540 
Recovery of credit losses, net 11      (1,639,096)  (5,589,049) 
Provision for/ (recovery of) other financial assets   21,811  (115,198) 
Directors’ fees & expenses   145,220  85,139 
Management fees   900,000  602,255 
Depreciation of property and equipment 14  403,695  500,877 
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 15  378,102  229,641 
      
Total expenses   9,610,417  6,314,205 
      
Income before taxation   4,072,389  7,281,085 
      
Taxation charge 18  (763,377)  (1,211,685) 
      
Net income after taxation   3,309,012  6,069,400 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income…continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income…continued 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 
 
 Notes  2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
      
Net income after taxation   3,309,012  6,069,400 
      
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:      
      
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss, net of 
tax: 

  
 

 
 

Remeasurement (loss)/gain on post-retirement benefit 
liability (net of taxes, $36,417 (2021: $130,717) 25 

  
(93,642) 

 
336,131 

Remeasurement (loss)/gain on pension liability (net of 
taxes, $310,396 (2021: $523,466) 25 

 
(798,165) 

 
1,346,059 

Property revaluation adjustment   −  220,413 
Net change in unrealised gains on equity securities at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (net of taxes, 
$74,829 (2021: $Nil) 

  

192,417 

 

− 
      
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, 
net of taxes 

  
(699,390) 

 
1,902,603 

      
      
Total comprehensive income for the year   2,609,622  7,972,003 
      
Basic and diluted earnings per share 22  0.16  0.30 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Statement of Cash Flow
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Statement of Cash Flow 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 Notes  2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

      
Cash flows from operating activities      
Operating income before taxation   4,072,389  7,281,085 
Items not affecting cash:      
(Recovery of) provision for credit losses   (1,768,134)  (5,704,247) 
Depreciation 14, 15  781,797  730,518 
Gains on securities   615,410  (490,318) 
Impairment loss on investments   150,848  − 
Retirement benefit contribution 25  (158,872)  (58,946) 
Retirement benefit expenses   −  30,825 
Pension income 25  (162,640)  (316,794) 
Property, plant and equipment revaluation   −  (220,413) 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment   −  123,724 
Interest expense   2,354,124  − 
Interest income   (10,473,377)  − 
Income tax expense   546,873  1,211,685 
      
Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities before 
changes in operating assets and liabilities 

  
(4,041,582) 

 
2,587,119 

      
Change in statutory deposit with the Central Bank   (1,769,274)  (8,062,000) 
Change in loans and advances   (262,026)  9,457,937 
Change in other assets and other receivables   4,717,543  1,435,306 
Change in lease liability   641,280  − 
Change in deposits due to customers   29,812,488  (1,239,609) 
Change in due to parent company   (4,192,452)  10,372,920 
Changes in due from banks   (5,437,260)  (2,984,171) 
Change in provisions and other liabilities   1,287,088  (2,428,235) 
     
Cash flows from operating activities before interest   20,735,805  9,139,267 
     
Interest received   9,394,476  10,131,063 
Interest paid   (2,656,651)  (2,601,794) 
Taxes paid   −  (865,825) 
Payment of lease liabilities   (468,309)  (92,922) 
Pension contributions, net   −  58,946 
      
Net cash flows from operating activities   27,025,321  15,768,735 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Statement of Cash Flow…continued 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 Notes  2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

      
Cash flows from investing activities      
Purchase of property and equipment 14  (1,079,447)  − 
Purchase and redemption of investment securities (net)   (14,795,227)  (217,389) 
      
Net cash flows used in investing activities   (15,874,674)  (217,389) 
      
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   11,150,647  15,551,346 
      
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   191,971,662  176,420,316 
      
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 27  203,122,309  191,971,662 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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1 Nature of operations 
 

The principal activity of ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. (the “Bank”), is the provision of commercial banking 
services. The Bank is licensed to carry on banking business in Grenada in accordance with the Grenada Banking 
Act No. 20 of 2015 (the “Banking Act”) and is regulated by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB). 

 
The Bank is a 62.08% subsidiary of Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd. t/a ACB Caribbean (“parent company”), 
a company incorporated in Antigua and Barbuda. 

 
 
2 General information and statement of compliance with IFRS 
 

ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. was incorporated on January 19, 1983, under the laws of Grenada. Its principal 
activities are commercial and retail banking operations.  The address of its registered office is Grand Anse, St. 
George, Grenada. 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
ACB Grenada Bank Ltd.’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as of 
September 30, 2022 (the reporting date). 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the following 
material items that are measured at fair value in the separate statement of financial position, and in accordance 
with the going concern assumption: 
 
• Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
• Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 
• Equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 
• Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
• Investment property and certain classes of property and equipment are measured at market value less 

accumulated depreciation. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Bank’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the separate financial statements are disclosed in Note 7.
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3 Changes in accounting policies 
 
3.1  Changes in accounting policies 

 
NNeeww  ssttaannddaarrddss  aanndd  aammeennddmmeennttss  eeffffeeccttiivvee  ffoorr  tthhee  ffiinnaanncciiaall  yyeeaarr  bbeeggiinnnniinngg  OOccttoobbeerr  11,,  22002211    
 
Standards and amendments that are effective for the first time on October 1, 2021 are as follows:  
 
• Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) 
• Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IFRS 16) 
• Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2022 (Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 16, IAS 41) 
• Onerous Contracts – Cost of fulfilling a contract (Amendments to IAS 37) 
 
These amendments do not have a material impact on these separate financial statements and therefore the 
disclosures have not been made. 
  
SSttaannddaarrddss,,  aammeennddmmeennttss  aanndd  iinntteerrpprreettaattiioonnss  ttoo  eexxiissttiinngg  ssttaannddaarrddss  tthhaatt  aarree  nnoott  yyeett  eeffffeeccttiivvee  aanndd  hhaavvee  nnoott  
bbeeeenn  aaddoopptteedd  eeaarrllyy  bbyy  tthhee  BBaannkk  
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, and amendments to existing 
standards have been published by the IASB that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the 
Bank. 

 
Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Bank’s accounting policies for 
the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. These standards are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Bank’s separate financial statements in future reporting periods and on foreseeable 
future transactions. 

 
4 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
4.1 Overall considerations 

 
The financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounting policies and measurement bases 
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Certain comparative amounts in the financial statements have been reclassified or re-presented, as a result of 
the acquisition of a 62.08% shareholding by Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd. t/a ACB Caribbean, to ensure 
consistent presentation and measurement within the Bank. 

 
4.2 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash and demand deposits with banks together with short-term highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of 
change in value. Such investments are normally those with original maturities up to three months 
from the date of acquisition. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments 

 
Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Subsequent measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities is described below. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when the financial asset and substantially all risks and rewards are transferred, or when the Bank neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control, over 
the transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognised financial assets that is created or retained by the Bank 
is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying 
amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received 
(including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had 
been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as at 
FVOCI is not recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL. 
 
A financial asset is measured at initial recognition at fair value and is classified and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
– the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 

and 
– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
A debt instrument is measured at initial recognition at fair value and is classified and subsequently measured at 
FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
– the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 

flows and selling financial assets; and 
– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets…continued 
 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by- investment basis. 
All other equity investments are classified as measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank 
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised 
cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise. 
 
Business model assessment 
IFRS 9 requires that financial assets are classified on the basis of the Bank’s business model for managing such 
assets unless it makes an irrevocable election to designate the asset at fair value through profit or loss. The 
business model refers to how financial assets are managed in order to generate cash flows. The Bank determines 
its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages its portfolios of financial assets to achieve its 
business objectives. Judgment is used in determining the Bank’s business model supported by relevant, 
objective evidence including: 
 
– The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice; 
 
– How performance of the business model and the financial assets held within the model are evaluated and 

reported to key management personnel; 
 
– How managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value 

of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); 
 
– The frequency and significance of  past  sales  activity, the reason for those sales as well as 

expectations about future sales; and 
 
– The significant risks affecting the performance of the business model for example, market risk and credit 

risk and the activities undertaken to manage those risks. 
 
Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 
measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect 
contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. 
 
The business model assessment is forward looking in that if cash flows are realized in a manner that is different 
from expectations the classification of the remaining assets in the business model is not changed but instead that 
information is used to assess new instruments acquired. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets…continued 
 

Business models - Applicability to the Bank 
 
The Bank’s business models fall into two main categories, which are indicative of the key strategies used to 
generate returns as follows: 
 
- Hold to collect contractual cash flows (HTC) - the objective of this business model is to hold assets in 

order to collect contractual cash flows. Under this model, the Bank holds loans and investment securities 
to collect contractual principal and interest cash flows. Sales are expected to be insignificant or infrequent; 
and 

 
- Other business model - the objective of this business model is neither to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows, nor both collect contractual cash flows and to sell. Under this model collecting 
contractual cash flows is incidental to the objective of the model and sales may be significant in value and 
frequent. The Bank holds certain debt and equity investments under this model. 

 
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest – SPPI assessment 
 
For classification purposes the Bank first reviews the terms of the instruments to determine whether they give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that meet the SPPI test. 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and 
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank considers the contractual terms of the 
instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the 
timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. 

 
Reclassifications 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Bank 
changes its business model for managing financial assets. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets…continued 
 
Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 
 
Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose objective is 
to hold for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest. After initial measurement, debt instruments in this category are carried at amortised cost. Interest 
income on these instruments is recognised in interest income using the effective interest rate method. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, transaction costs and fees that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate. 
 
Impairment on debt instruments measured at amortised cost is calculated using the expected credit loss 
approach. The Bank has loans and certain debt securities in this category, which are measured at amortised 
cost. These are presented net of the allowance for expected credit losses in the statement of financial position. 
 
Debt instruments measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 
 
Investments in debt instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where they 
meet the following two conditions and they have not been designated at FVTPL: 
 
- Contractual terms that give rise to cash flows on specified dates, that represent solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and 
 
- Are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 

and selling financial assets. 
 
These debt instruments are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included in other 
comprehensive income within a separate component of equity. Impairment losses or reversals, interest revenue 
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Upon disposal, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 
 
Impairment on debt instruments measured at FVOCI is calculated using the expected credit loss (ECL) 
approach. The ECL on debt instruments measured at FVOCI does not reduce the carrying amount of the asset 
in the statement of financial position, which remains at its fair value. 
 
The Bank does not have any financial assets in this category. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets…continued 
 
Debt instruments measured at FVTPL 
 
Debt instruments are measured at FVTPL if assets: 
 
i)    Are held for trading purposes; 
 
ii)   Are held as part of a portfolio managed on a fair value basis; or 
 
iii)  Whose cash flows do not represent payments that are solely payments of principal and interest. 
 
These instruments are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, with transaction costs 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Realised and unrealised gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
The Bank has certain investments in this category. 
 
Equity instruments measured at FVTPL 
 
Equity instruments are measured at FVTPL, unless an election is made to designate them at FVOCI upon 
purchase, with transaction costs recognised immediately in profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition the 
changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Equity instruments at FVTPL are primarily assets held for 
trading. 
 
The Bank has certain equity investments in this category. 
 
Equity instruments measured at FVOCI (designated) 
 
At initial recognition, there is an irrevocable option for the Bank to classify non-trading equity instruments at 
FVOCI. This election is used for certain equity investments for strategic or longer-term investment purposes. 
This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is not available to equity instruments that 
are held for trading purposes. 
 
Gains and losses on these instruments including when derecognised/sold are recorded in OCI and are not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. As such, there is no specific impairment requirement. Dividends 
received are recorded in profit or loss. Any transaction costs incurred upon purchase of the security are added 
to the cost basis of the security and are not reclassified to profit or loss on sale of the security. 
 
The Bank has certain equity investments in this category. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 
 SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  iinnccrreeaassee  iinn  ccrreeddiitt  rriisskk  ((SSIICCRR))  

 
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Bank considers both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the Bank’s 
historical experience and credit risk assessment. 
 
The determination of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk is critical to the staging process. 
Factors that the Bank may consider include: 
 
- Changes in market or general economic conditions; 
- Actual and/or expected potential breaches to contract terms and conditions; 
- Actual and/or expected delays in payment; 
- Deterioration in credit ratings; or 
- Significant changes in operating results or financial position of the borrower. 
 
BBaacckkssttoopp  
 
The Bank considers as a backstop that significant increase in credit risk occurs when an asset is more than 30 
days past due and also maintains a loan watch list to assist in the assessment. 
 
The Bank considers that significant increase in credit risk occurs for debt investments when investments with 
investment grade rating at acquisition moves to a non-investment grade but above a default grade. For debt 
investments with a non-investment grade at acquisition, a significant increase in credit risk occurs when there 
is an unfavorable movement in the ratings relative to the rating at initial recognition, including movement to a 
lower end of non-investment grade. 
 
An exposure will migrate through the ECL stages as asset quality deteriorates. If, in a subsequent period, asset 
quality improves and also reverses any previously assessed significant increase in credit risk since origination, 
then the provision for doubtful debts reverts from lifetime ECL to 12-months. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Bank recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial 
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: 
 
– Financial assets that are debt instruments; 
– Lease receivables; 
– Financial guarantee contracts issued; and 
– Loan commitments issued. 
 
No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 
 
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which 
they are measured as 12-month ECL: 
 
– Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and  
– Other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased 

significantly since their initial recognition. 
 

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is 
recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1’ financial instruments. Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit 
risk has improved, and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2. 
 
Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial 
instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised but which are not credit-impaired are 
referred to as ‘Stage 2’ financial instruments. 
 
Credit impaired financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial 
assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial asset is ‘credit-
impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
 
– Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, including an inability to satisfy the debt 

because of decreased or no cash flow (negative debt service ratio), inability to work or where the customer 
is unemployed in excess of 6 months; 

 
– A breach of contract such as a default or past due event, including a history of chronic arrears; 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Impairment of financial assets…continued 
 

– The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not consider 
otherwise, or if a loan has been restructured more than three times in five years; 

 
– Measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the underlying assets that secure the loan; 
 
– Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
 
– It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or 
 
– The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 
 
A loan that has been re-negotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be 
credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced 
significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.  
 
DDeeffaauulltt  
 
In addition, the Bank considers that default has occurred and classifies a retail loan as credit impaired when it is 
more than 90 days past due. 
 
Loans classified as ‘doubtful’ or ‘loss’ based on the regulatory definition and those placed on a watch list are 
also considered to be in default and hence are classified as credit impaired. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Impairment of financial assets…continued 
 

Measurement of ECL 
 
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows: 
 
– Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls 

(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows that the Bank expects to receive); 

 
– Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows; 
 
– Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows 

that are due to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Bank expects to 
receive; and 

 
– Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Bank 

expects to recover. 
 

The inputs used to estimate the expected credit losses are as follows: 
 
- Probability of Default (PD) - This is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. 

A default may only happen at a certain time over the remaining estimated life, if the facility has not been 
previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio. 

 
- Exposure At Default (EAD) - This is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into 

account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and 
interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and 
accrued interest from missed payments. 

 
- Loss Given Default (LGD) - This is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at 

a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender 
would expect to receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a 
percentage of the EAD. 

 
- Forward looking information (FLI) – The standard requires the incorporation of forward-looking 

information in the estimation of expected credit losses for each stage and the assessment of significant 
increases in credit risk consider information about past events and current conditions as well as 
reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions. The estimation and 
application of forward-looking information requires significant judgement. 

 
- Discount rate – The standard requires the ECL to be discounted using the effective interest rate 

(EIR). 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Impairment of financial assets…continued 
 
Measurement of ECL…continued 
 
The above five parameters are modelled and estimated independently and combined to obtain the ECL of 
loans. 

 
To incorporate forward-looking macroeconomic sensitivity as required per the IFRS 9 guidance, the Bank 
developed an economic scorecard model based on qualitative rationale and management judgement to calculate 
a “Forward Looking Factor” (FLF). 
 
The Bank applied experienced judgement in selecting macroeconomic factors that would most likely impact 
credit risk and leveraged various third party macroeconomic forecasts when determining the forward looking 
factors. The macro-economic projections considered by the Bank were: 
 
- Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 
- Inflation 
- Unemployment rate 
- Lending rates  
 
The Bank then employed a Forward-Looking Factor Scorecard approach to compute adjustment factors 
applied to the final PD estimates used to calculate the ECLs. This approach also considered various economic 
scenarios (negative, neutral, positive) and their estimated impacts to the ECL. 

 
RReessttrruuccttuurreedd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss 
 
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new 
one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset 
should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows: 
 
– If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash 

flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the 
existing asset. 

 
– If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value 

of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its 
derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset 
that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original 
effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Impairment of financial assets…continued 
 

RReessttrruuccttuurreedd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss…continued 
 
In assessing whether the modified terms are “substantially” different from the original terms, the following 
factors are considered: 
 
- Introduction of significant new terms and conditions; 
- Significant change in loan’s interest rate; 
- Significant extension in loan’s term; and  
- Significant change in credit risk from inclusion of collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
EExxppeecctteedd  lliiffee 
 
For instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3, loss allowances reflect expected credit losses over the expected remaining 
lifetime of the instrument. For most instruments, the expected life is limited to the remaining contractual life. 
For certain revolving facilities such as credit cards and overdrafts, the expected credit life is estimated based on 
the period over which the Bank’s exposure to credit losses is not mitigated by normal credit risk management 
actions. 
 
PPrreesseennttaattiioonn  ooff  aalllloowwaannccee  ffoorr  EECCLL 
 
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 
 
– Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets; 
 
– Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; and 
 
– Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Bank cannot 

identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: 
The Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented 
as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance 
over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision. 

 
WWrriittee--ooffff 
 
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Bank 
determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash 
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level. 
 
Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial instruments’ in the 
statement of profit or loss and OCI. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.3 Financial instruments…continued 
 

Derecognition of financial assets 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
where the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets that are 
transferred to a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are presented in the statement of financial 
position as ‘Pledged assets’, if the transferee has the right to sell or repledge them.  
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. They are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities include customers’ deposits, 
acceptances, guarantees and letters of credit, provisions, and other liabilities and lease liabilities. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified, and the cash flows of the modified liability 
are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at 
fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration 
paid is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non- financial assets transferred, if any, and the 
assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability. 
 
If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the 
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective 
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the 
time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the 
effective interest rate on the instrument. 
 
Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, there is a current legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS or for gains and losses 
arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.4 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

 
Provisions for legal disputes or other claims are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from 
the Bank and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. 
 
A provision for bank levies is recognised when the condition that triggers the payment of the levy is met. If a 
levy obligation is subject to a minimum activity threshold so that the obligating event is reaching a minimum 
activity, then a provision is recognised when that minimum activity threshold is reached. 
 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, 
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar 
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class 
of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is 
material. 
 
Any reimbursement that the Bank is virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation 
is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision. In 
those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is considered 
improbable or remote, no liability is recognised. Such situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the 
outflow of resources is remote. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.5 Property and equipment and depreciation 

 
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost or revalued amount, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method at rates estimated 
to write down the cost or valuation of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, 
as follows: 
 
Building 40 years  
Leasehold improvements 10 years 
Equipment 10 years 
Furniture & fixtures 6 ⅔ years 
Computer equipment 5 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss when the 
expenditure is incurred. 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
Property and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property and equipment are determined as the difference between 
the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised within “other operating income” 
in profit or loss. 
 
Revaluations of property and equipment are carried out every 3 to 5 years based on independent valuations. 
 
Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is credited in equity to revaluation 
reserve, except to the extent that is reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognized in 
income, in which case the increase is credited to income to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A 
decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is charged to income to 
the extent that is exceeds the balance, if any, held in the fixed asset revaluation reserve relating to a previous 
revaluation of that asset. 
 
Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to the separate statement of income. On the subsequent sale or 
retirement of a revalued property, any revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation reserve is transferred 
directly to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the fixed asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings 
except when an asset is derecognized. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.6 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
At each reporting date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than deferred 
tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. To 
determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit 
and determines a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Discount 
factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of 
respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk factors. Impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss. 
 
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no 
longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised. 

 
4.7 Dividends on ordinary shares and dividend income 

 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by shareholders. 
Dividends for the year which are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as a subsequent event (note 
28). 
 
Dividend income is recognised in “other operating income” in the statement of comprehensive income when 
the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 
 

4.8 Interest income and expense 
 
Effective interest rate 
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The 
‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument to: 
 
- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 
- the amortised cost of the financial liability. 
 
When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument, but not ECL. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including ECL. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.8 Interest income and expense…continued 
 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 
 
Amortised cost and gross carrying amount 
The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 
financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and 
the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The ‘gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected 
credit loss allowance. 

 
Calculation of interest income and expense 
The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial 
asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied 
to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the 
liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating-rate 
instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest. 

 
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income 
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no 
longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 

 
For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying 
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income 
does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves. 

 
For information on when financial assets are credit-impaired, see Note 4.3. 

 
Presentation 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit or loss and 
OCI includes: 

 
– interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

 
Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI includes: 
 
– financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and 
– interest expense on lease liabilities. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.9 Fee and commission income and revenue recognition 

 
Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or 
financial liability are included in the effective interest rate. 
 
If a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment 
fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period. 
 
Other fee and commission income – including account servicing fees and syndication fees – is recognised as 
the related services are performed, on an accruals basis. 
 
A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Bank’s financial statements 
may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Bank 
first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then 
applies IFRS 15 to the residual. 
 
Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the 
services are received. 

 
4.10 Foreign currency translation 

 
Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean Dollars, which is also the functional currency of 
the Bank. 
 
Foreign currency transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Eastern Caribbean Dollars using the closing rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in foreign currency at year-
end exchange rates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the 
exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.11 Post-employment benefits 

 
The Bank provides post-employment benefits through a defined benefit plan. Under this plan, the amount of 
pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement is defined by reference to the employee’s length of 
service and final salary. The legal obligation for any benefits remains with the Bank, even if plan assets for 
funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside. Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a 
long-term benefit fund as well as qualifying insurance policies. 
 
The liability recognised in the statement of financial position for a defined benefit plan is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets. The cost of providing 
benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out every 
three (3) years. 
 
Management estimates the DBO annually with the assistance of independent actuaries. This is based on 
assumed rates of inflation, medical cost trends and mortality. It also takes into account the Bank’s specific 
anticipation of future salary increases. Discount factors are determined close to each year-end by reference to 
high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that 
have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability. 
 
Service cost on the Bank’s defined benefit plan is included in employee benefits expense. Employee 
contributions, all of which are independent of the number of years of service, are treated as a reduction of 
service cost. Net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability is included in salaries and related costs in 
profit or loss. Actuarial gains and losses resulting from re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability are 
included in other comprehensive income. 
 
The administration of the plan is conducted by a Board of Trustees which is comprised of seven (7) members, 
four (4) of whom represent the Bank and three (3) represent the employees. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.12 Leased assets 

 
At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset, the Bank uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 
 
As a lessee 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. However, 
for leases of property the Bank has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease 
and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
 
The Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use 
asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of 
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentives received. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date 
to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Bank by the end 
of the lease term. 
 
In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is 
determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate as 
the discount rate. 
 
The Bank determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing 
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.12 Leased assets…continued 
 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
 
– fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 
– variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date; 
 
– amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
 
– the exercise price under a purchase option that the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments 

in an optional renewal period if the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties 
for early termination of a lease unless the Bank is reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there 
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Bank’s 
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Bank changes its 
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 
been reduced to zero. 
 
The Bank presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately in the statement of financial position. 
 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less and low-value assets. The Bank recognises the lease payments associated with 
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

4.13 Repurchase agreements 
 
Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements are included in loans and receivables. These securities are not 
secured by collateral. The counterparty liability is included in ‘due under repurchase agreements’ and is recorded 
at amortised cost. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over 
the life of the agreements using the effective interest method. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.14 Current and deferred income taxes 

 
Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 
Current tax 
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable 
on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. The calculation of current tax is 
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period in Antigua and Barbuda. 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred income taxes are calculated on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities and their tax bases. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to 
their respective period of realisation, provided those rates are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible 
temporary difference will be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the Bank’s forecast 
of future operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits on the 
use of any unused tax loss or credit. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Bank has a right and intention to set off current tax 
assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 

 
4.15 Operating expenses 

 
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or as incurred.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.16 Equity and reserves 

 
Stated capital represents the issue price multiplied by the number of shares that have been issued. Any 
transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of any related 
income tax benefits. 
 
Other components of equity include the following: 
 
- Regulatory reserve for loan loss – additional provision as required by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank 

and interest on loans not recognised for regulatory purposes; 
 
- Pension reserve – comprises a reserve equivalent to the calculated pension plan asset; 
 
- Revaluation reserve: property – comprises unrealised gains and losses from the revaluation of land and 

buildings; 
 
- Revaluation reserve for FVOCI financial assets – comprises unrealised gains and losses from changes 

in the fair value of these types of financial instruments; and  
 
- Retained earnings – includes all current and prior period retained profits or losses. 
 
See note 21 for details on each component of other reserves. 

 
4.17 Financial guarantees and loan commitments 

 
‘Financial guarantees’ are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in accordance with the 
terms of a debt instrument. 
 
‘Loan commitments’ are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. 
Financial guarantees issued or commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially 
measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at the higher of the loss allowance determined in 
accordance with IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of 
income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15. Other loan commitments issued are measured 
at the sum of (i) the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and (ii) the amount of any fees 
received, less, if the commitment is unlikely to result in a specific lending arrangement, the cumulative amount 
of income recognised. Derecognition policies for financial assets (see Note 4.3) are applied to loan 
commitments issued and held. 
 
The Bank has issued no loan commitments that are measured at FVTPL. 
 
Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments are included within “provisions and other 
liabilities” on the statement of financial position. 
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 
4.18 Events after the financial reporting date 

 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Bank’s position at the reporting date 
(adjusting events) are reflected in the separate financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting 
(non-adjusting events) are disclosed in the notes to the separate financial statements when material. 
 
 

5 Financial risk management 
 

Risk management framework 
 
The Bank’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of its risk 
management framework. The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve 
the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking 
risk is core to retail banking, and operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The 
Bank’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimize potential 
adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance. 
 
The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Bank’s activities. The Bank, 
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Bank’s 
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Bank. Management identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation 
with the Bank’s operating units. The Board provides oversight for overall risk management, as well as written 
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. The Audit and 
Risk Management Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both 
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

 
5.1 Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Bank’s customers, clients or market 
counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial 
and consumer loans and advances, credit cards, and loan commitments arising from such lending activities, but 
can also arise from credit enhancements provided, such as financial guarantees and letters of credit. The Bank 
is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities. 

 



ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Notes to Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

60 BUILDING...
BIGGER, BETTER, BOLDER

Table of Contents

ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

(26)

5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1 Credit risk…continued 
 
5.1.1 Credit risk management 

 
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its 
exposure to credit risk including risk on debt securities, cash, loans and advances, credit cards and loan 
commitments. The Board of Directors created the Credit Committee for the oversight of credit risk. A 
separate Credit department reports to the Credit Committee, which is responsible for managing the Bank’s 
credit risk, including the following: 

 
- Formulating credit policies covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, 

documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements. 
 
- Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. Authorisation limits are 

allocated, with larger facilities requiring approval by the Credit Committee or the Board of Directors, as 
appropriate. 

 
- Reviewing and assessing credit risk: all credit exposures in excess of designated limits are assessed, before facilities 

are committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review process. 
 
- Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries (for loans and advances, 

financial guarantees and similar exposures), and by issuer, credit rating band, market liquidity and country 
(for investment securities). 

 
- Developing and maintaining the Bank’s processes for measuring ECL: This includes processes for: 
 
- initial approval, regular validation and back-testing of the models used; 
 
- determining and monitoring significant increase in credit risk; and 
 
- incorporation of forward-looking information. 
 
- Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits, including those for selected industries, country risk and 

product types. Regular reports on the credit quality of portfolios are provided to the Credit Committee, 
which may require appropriate corrective action to be taken. These include reports containing estimates of 
ECL allowances. 

 
- Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to promote best practice throughout the Bank in the management 

of credit risk. 
 

Regular audits of credit processes are undertaken by Internal Audit.
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1 Credit risk…continued 
 
5.1.1 Credit risk management…continued 
 

(a) Loans and advances 
 
The Bank assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools tailored 
to the various categories of the counterparty. These have been developed based on the Eastern Caribbean 
Central Bank guidelines. Customers of the Bank are segmented into five rating classes. The Bank’s rating 
scale, which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class. This 
means that, in principle, exposures migrate between classes as the assessment of their probability of default 
changes. The rating tools are reviewed and upgraded as necessary. 
 
Bank’s rating            Description of the grade 
1                                 Pass 
2                                 Special mention 
3                                 Sub-standard 
4                                 Doubtful 
5                                 Loss 

 
(b) Debt securities and other bills 

 
The Bank’s portfolio of debt securities consists of Government of St. Lucia, Government of Grenada, and 
Government of Trinidad and Tobago as well as other debt obligations by regional banking and financial 
institutions; of these the Government of Grenada are unrated. The Bank assesses the risk of default on 
these obligations by regularly monitoring the performance of the Governments through published 
government data, information received directly from government departments and information published 
by international agencies such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank. The risk of 
default on regional corporate debt is assessed by continuous monitoring of the performance of these 
companies through published financial information, and other data gleaned from various sources. 

 
(c) Credit card receivables 

 
The risk related to the Bank’s credit card portfolio is significantly covered by the interest charged to 
customers at a rate of 15% per annum. Historically, the risk of loss has been on average less than 1% per 
annum over the past eight years. The portfolio is closely monitored by a third party and the Bank on a 
daily basis to minimize the risk of default.
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1 Credit risk…continued 
 
5.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies 
 

The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular 
to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries. 
 
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in 
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a 
revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review by the Board of Directors. 
 
The exposure to any one borrower, including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on 
and off-balance sheet exposure. Actual exposures against limits are monitored on an ongoing basis. Cash 
deposits with other banks and short-term investments are placed with reputable regional and international 
financial institutions and Governments. 
 
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where 
appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal 
guarantees. Lending limits are reviewed in light of changing market and economic conditions and periodic 
credit reviews and assessments of probability of default. 
 
The following specific control and mitigation measures are also utilised: 
 
(a) Collateral 
 
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the 
taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the 
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and 
advances are: 

 
- Mortgages over residential and commercial properties; 
- Charges over business assets such as equipment, inventory and accounts receivable; 
- Charges over financial instruments such as cash and short-term deposits; and 
- Government and personal guarantees. 

 
Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual credit facilities 
may be secured or unsecured. In addition, the Bank seeks to proactively minimize credit loss by taking pledges 
of collateral from the counterparty as part of its general risk mitigation strategy. 
 
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances depends on the nature of the 
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1 Credit risk…continued 
 
5.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies…continued 
 

(b) Financial guarantees (for credit related commitments and loan books) 
 
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. 
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters 
of credit – which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to 
draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are collateralised by 
the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan. 
 
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of 
loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is 
potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of 
loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon 
customers maintaining specific credit standards (often referred to as financial covenants). 
 
The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally 
have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments. 

 
5.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies 
 

The internal rating systems described in Note 5.1.1 focus more on credit quality mapping from the inception 
of the lending and investment activities. In contrast, impairment provisions for financial reporting purposes are 
provided for losses based on an expected credit loss model using a three stage approach across the various loan 
categories. 
 
Financial instruments that are not already credit impaired are originated into stage 1 and a 12-month expected 
credit loss provision is recognised. 
 
Instruments will remain in stage 1 until they are repaid, unless they experience significant credit deterioration 
(stage 2) or they become credit impaired (stage 3). 
 
Instruments will transfer to stage 2 and a lifetime expected credit loss provision recognised when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk compared with what was expected at origination. An overview of this 
is provided below: 

 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
12 month expected credit loss - Lifetime expected credit loss - Lifetime expected credit loss - 

credit impaired/non- performing performing performing but significant 
 increase in credit risk (SICR) 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1 Credit risk…continued 
 
5.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies…continued 
 

The loan impairment provision shown in the statement of financial position at year end is derived from each 
of the five rating grades. However, the majority of the impairment provision comes from the substandard, 
doubtful and loss grades. 
 
The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence indicates that a facility 
has become credit impaired, based on the following criteria set out by the Bank: 
 
- Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest 
 
- Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, net income percentage of sales) 
 
- Breach of loan covenants or conditions 
 
- Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings 
 
- Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position 
 
- Deterioration in the value of collateral 

 
The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at least 
annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Expected credit losses are determined for 
these accounts based on a combination of the probability of default, loss given default and the exposure at 
default. The assessment normally encompasses collateral held (including re- confirmation of its enforceability) 
and the anticipated receipts for that individual account. 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1 Credit risk…continued 
 
5.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 
 

 
  Maximum Exposure 

 
  2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
     
Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets     
     
Cash and balances with the Central Bank  167,871,756  218,278,389 
Due from other banks  74,463,213  5,643,449 
Loans and advances to customers  120,572,255  118,037,452 
 
Investment securities 

 
 

 
 

Amortised cost  20,829,566  5,668,346 
FVTPL  10,673,665  11,289,075 
Other assets  –  6,095,158 
     
  394,410,455  365,011,869 
     
Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet assets     
     
Loan commitments and other credit related obligations  6,669,442  9,163,319 
     
As of September 30  401,079,897  374,175,188 

 
The above table represents a worse-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank as of September 30, 2022 
and September 30, 2021, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. 
For on-balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to 
the Bank resulting from both its loans and advances portfolios and debt securities based on the fact that 
business loans, which represents the biggest group in the portfolio, are backed by collateral. 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1.5 Debt securities 
 

 
 

Amortised 
cost 

$ 

 FVTPL 
Debt 

Securities 
$ 

 

Total 
$ 

As of September 30, 2022   
Rated  16,926,512  –  16,926,512 
Unrated  3,903,054  10,673,665  14,576,719 
       
  20,829,566  10,673,665  31,503,231 
       
       
       

 
 

Amortised 
Cost 

$ 

 FVTPL 
Debt 

Securities 
$ 

 

Total 
$ 

As of September 30, 2021   
Rated  – –  – 
Unrated  5,668,346  11,289,075  16,957,421 

 
 5,668,346  11,289,075  16,957,421 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1.6 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure 
 

(a) Geographical concentration of assets and off-balance sheet items 
The Bank’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated as detailed below. Grenada is the home country of 
the Bank where the predominant activity is commercial banking services. 
 
As a major indigenous bank in Grenada, the Bank accounts for a significant share of credit exposure to 
many sectors of the economy. However, credit risk is spread over a diversity of personal and commercial 
customers. 
 
The following table analyses the Bank’s main credit exposures at their carrying amounts, without taking 
into account any collateral held or other credit support as categorised by geographical region. For all 
classes of assets, the Bank has allocated exposure to regions based on the country of domicile of the 
counterparties. 

 
 Grenada 

$ 

Other 
Caribbean 

$ 

Non- 
Caribbean 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     
2022:     
     
Credit risk exposures relating to 
on-balance sheet assets:     
Cash and balances with the Central 
Bank 7,731,572 160,140,184 – 167,871,756 
Due from other banks 920,296 63,437,696 10,105,221 74,463,213 
Investment securities:     
Amortised cost 3,903,054 16,926,512 – 20,829,566 
FVTPL - Bonds 10,673,665 – – 10,673,665 
Loans and advances 107,402,780 13,169,475 – 120,572,255 
     
 130,631,367 253,673,867 10,105,221 394,410,455 
      
Credit risk exposures relating 
to off-balance sheet assets:     
Loan commitments and other 
credit related facilities 6,669,442 – – 6,669,442 
     
September 30, 2022 137,300,809 253,673,867 10,105,221 401,079,897 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.1.6 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued  
 

(a) Geographical concentration of assets and off-balance sheet items…continued 
 

 
Grenada 

$ 

 Other 
Caribbean 

$ 

Non- 
Caribbean 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     
2021:     
      
Credit risk exposures relating to on-
balance sheet assets: 

 
   

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 7,954,742 210,323,647 – 218,278,389 
Due from other banks (1,151,125) (10,854,422) 17,648,996 5,643,449 
Investment securities:     
Amortised cost 5,668,346 – – 5,668,346 
FVTPL - Bonds 11,289,075 – – 11,289,075 
Loans and advances 118,037,452 – – 118,037,452 
Other assets 6,095,158 – – 6,095,158 
     
 147,893,648 199,469,225 17,648,996 365,011,869 
     
Credit risk exposures relating to off-
balance sheet assets:     
Loan commitments and other credit related 
facilities 9,163,319 – – 9,163,319 
     
September 30, 2021 157,056,967 199,469,225 17,648,996 374,175,188 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.2 Market risk 

 
The Bank takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk arises from open positions 
in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market 
movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, 
foreign exchange rates and equity prices. 
 
Non trading portfolio market risks primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail and 
commercial banking assets and liabilities. Non trading portfolio market risks also include foreign exchange risks 
and risks associated with the change in equity prices arising from the Bank’s FVOCI investment securities. 

 
5.2.1 Price risk 

 
The Bank’s investment portfolio includes securities that are quoted on the Eastern Caribbean Securities 
Exchange. The Bank is exposed to equities price risk because of investments held and classified on the 
statement of financial position as FVOCI. To manage this price risk arising from investments in equity 
securities, the Bank diversifies its portfolio. The Bank does not hold securities that are quoted on the 
world’s major securities markets. 

 
5.2.2 Interest rate risk 

 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of 
fluctuations in the prevailing level of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest 
margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event unexpected movements 
arise. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be 
undertaken, which is monitored by the ALCO Committee. 
 
The following table summarises the Bank's exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank's financial 
instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
 
The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the 
sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest 
rate scenarios.
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.2 Market risk…continued 
 
5.2.2 Interest rate risk…continued 

 
The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to interest rate repricing risk. It includes the Bank’s financial 
instruments at carrying amounts, categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity date. 

 
 Up to 1 

Year 
$ 

1 – 5 years 
$ 

Over 5 
 Years 

$ 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 

 

 
Total 

$ 
      
As of September 30, 2022      
      
Assets      
Cash and balances with Central 
Bank – – – 167,871,756 167,871,756 
Loans and advances 12,213,372 11,975,271 96,383,612 – 120,572,255 
Investment Securities      
- Amortised cost – 11,328,080 9,501,486 – 20,829,566 
- FVTPL – Bonds – 336,090 10,337,575 – 10,673,665 
Due from other banks 5,493,210 – – 68,970,003 74,463,213 
      
Total financial assets 17,706,582 23,639,441 116,222,673 236,841,759 394,410,455 
      
Liabilities 
 

     
Customers’ deposits 184,059,600 136,203 – 140,101,452 324,297,255 
Due to parent company – – – 6,180,468 6,180,468 
Provision and other liabilities – – – 8,175,296 8,175,296 
Lease liabilities – – – 1,260,362 1,260,362 
      
Total financial liabilities 184,059,600 136,203 – 155,717,578 339,913,381 
      
Total interest repricing gap (166,353,018) 23,503,238 116,222,673 81,124,181 54,497,074 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.2 Market risk…continued 
 
5.2.2 Interest rate risk…continued 

 
 

Up to 1 
Year 

$ 

1 – 5 
years 

$ 

Over 5 
 Years 

$ 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
      
As of September 30, 2021      
      
Assets      
Cash and balances with Central 
Bank – – – 218,278,389 218,278,389 
Loans and advances 5,017,923 17,065,328 95,954,201 – 118,037,452 
Investment Securities      
- Amortised cost – – 5,668,346 – 5,668,346 
- FVTPL – Bonds – – 11,289,075 – 11,289,075 
Due from other banks – – – 5,643,449 5,643,449 
Other assets – – – 6,095,158 6,095,158 
      
Total financial assets 5,017,923 17,065,328 112,911,622 230,016,996 365,011,869 
      
Liabilities 
     

 

Customers’ deposits 180,753,002 27,532 – 114,028,818 294,809,352 
Due to parent company – – – 10,372,920 10,372,920 
Provision and other liabilities – – – 7,356,516 7,356,516 
Lease liabilities – – – 597,025 597,025 
      
Total financial liabilities 180,753,002 27,532 – 132,355,279 313,135,813 
      
Total interest repricing gap (175,735,079) 17,037,796 112,911,622 97,661,717 51,876,056 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.3 Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities when 
they fall due as a result of customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments, 
or other cash outflows, such as debt maturities or margin calls for derivatives. Such outflows would deplete 
available cash resources for client lending, trading activities and investments. In extreme circumstances, lack of 
liquidity could result in reductions in the statement of financial position and sales of assets, or potentially an 
inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Bank will be unable to do so is inherent in all banking 
operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide events including, but not limited 
to, credit events, merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural disasters. 
 
The Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts and 
maturing deposits. Management sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet such 
calls and on the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover 
withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. 
 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as 
they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Bank and its exposure to changes in interest 
rates and exchange rates. 

 
5.3.1 Liquidity risk management process 

 
The Bank’s liquidity risk management processes are carried out by the Bank’s senior management and monitored 
by the finance team and include the following: 
 
• Day-to-day funding managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. This 

includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The Bank maintains an active 
presence in regional markets to enable this to happen; maintaining the liquidity ratios of the statement of 
financial position against internal and regulatory requirements; and managing the concentration and profile 
of debt maturities. 

 
• Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week and 

month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections 
is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the 
financial assets. 
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5. Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.3 Liquidity risk…continued 
 
5.3.2 Funding approach 
 

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to maintain a wide 
diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term. The Bank holds a diversified portfolio of cash, 
loans and investment securities to support payment obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market 
environment. 
 
The Bank’s assets held for managing liquidity risk include the following: 
 
• Cash and balances with the Central bank; 
• Deposits with other banks; 
• Loans and advances to customers; 
• Treasury bill; 
• Investment securities; 
• Acceptances, guarantees and letters or credit; and 
• Other assets. 
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5. Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.3 Liquidity risk…continued 
 
5.3.2 Funding approach 
 

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to maintain a wide 
diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term. The Bank holds a diversified portfolio of cash, 
loans and investment securities to support payment obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market 
environment. 
 
The Bank’s assets held for managing liquidity risk include the following: 
 
• Cash and balances with the Central bank; 
• Deposits with other banks; 
• Loans and advances to customers; 
• Treasury bill; 
• Investment securities; 
• Acceptances, guarantees and letters or credit; and 
• Other assets. 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.3 Liquidity risk…continued 
 
5.3.3 Non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk 
 

The table below presents the cash flows of the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by the remaining 
contractual maturities at the reporting date. 

 
 

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 6 
months 

6 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

 
Total 

       
As of September 30, 2022       
Liabilities       
Customers’ deposits 303,028,845 4,450,246 16,753,294 136,283 – 324,368,668 
Due to parent company 6,180,468 – – – – 6,180,468 
       
Total Liabilities  
(contractual maturity dates) 309,209,313 4,450,246 16,753,294 136,283 – 330,549,136 

 
 

 
Less than 
 3 months 

3 to 6 
months 

6 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

 
Total 

       
As of September 30, 2021       
Liabilities       
Customers’ deposits 271,496,170 6,252,285 17,060,176 27,557 – 294,836,188 
Due to parent company 10,372,920 – – – – 10,372,920 
       
Total Liabilities  
(contractual maturity dates) 281,869,090 6,252,285 17,060,176 27,557 – 305,209,108 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.3 Liquidity risk…continued 
 
5.4 Off-balance sheet items 
 

(a)  Loan commitments, financial guarantees and other financial facilities 
 
The contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that it commits to extend 
to customers and other facilities are summarised in note 26. 

 
 

Up to 1 year 1 – 5 years 
Over 5 

years Total 
     
As of September 30, 2022     
     
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of 
credit 5,772,848 – – 5,772,848 
Loan commitments and other credit 
related obligations 6,669,442 – – 6,669,442 
     
Total credit commitments 12,442,290 – – 12,442,290 
     
As of September 30, 2021     
     
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of 
credit 9,669,737 – – 9,669,737 
Loan commitments and other credit 
related obligations 9,163,319 – – 9,163,319 
     
Total credit commitments 18,833,056 – – 18,833,056 

 
(b) Capital commitments 

 
There were no capital commitments for the acquisition of buildings and equipment at the financial year 
end (2021: $Nil). 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

 
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between 
knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market 
value, if one exists. 
 
The Bank’s financial instruments include cash resources, securities, loans, other assets, customer deposits and 
other liabilities.  The fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values with 
the exception of loans. The following comments are relevant to their fair value. 
 
Cash on hand and due from banks and balances with Eastern Caribbean Central Bank  
 
Since these assets are short-term in nature, i.e., with original maturity periods under 90 days, the carrying values 
are estimated to approximate their realisable value. 
 
Investment securities 
 
Fair value is based on quoted market values. The fair value of securities that do not have a quoted market price 
in an active market is determined by management using an appropriate valuation method. 
 
Loans and advances 
 
Loans are stated net of specific provision for impairment.  These assets result from transactions 
conducted under typical market conditions and their values are not adversely affected by unusual terms. The 
estimated fair value of loans represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to 
be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine initial loans values are 
taken as indicative of fair values; and where observed values are different adjustments would be made. 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities…continued 
 

Due to banks, customers' deposits, due to associates and affiliated companies and other liabilities 
 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is the 
amount repayable on demand. 
 
Deposits with fixed rate characteristics are at rates that are not significantly different from current rates and are 
assumed to have discounted cash flow values that approximate the carrying value. 
 
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities: 

 

 Carrying value Fair value 

 
 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

     
Financial assets     
Cash and balances with the Central Bank 167,871,756 218,278,389 167,871,756 218,278,389 
Due from other banks 74,463,213 5,643,449 74,463,213 5,643,449 
Loans and advances 120,572,255 118,037,452 131,739,615 117,240,409 
Investment securities 33,042,217 18,229,161 33,042,217 18,099,200 
Other assets 119,996 6,095,158 119,996 6,095,158 
     
 396,069,437 366,283,609 407,236,797 365,356,605 
     
Financial liabilities     
Deposits due to customers 324,297,255 294,809,352 324,297,255 294,809,352 
Lease liabilities 1,260,362 597,025 1,260,362 597,025 
Provisions and other liabilities 8,175,296 7,356,516 8,175,296 7,356,516 
Due to parent company 6,180,468 10,372,920 6,180,468 10,372,920 
     
 339,913,381 313,135,813 339,913,381 313,135,813 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities…continued 
 
5.5.1 Fair value hierarchy 
 

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation 
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent 
sources; and unobservable inputs reflect the Bank's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have 
created the following fair value hierarchy: 

 
- Level 1 - Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments. 

This level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges. 
 
- Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly 

(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: 
quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

 
- Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable (not based on observable market data). This category includes all 

instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs that are not observable, and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between instruments. 

 
The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and 
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities…continued 
 
5.5.1 Fair value hierarchy…continued 
 

The following fair value hierarchy table presents fair values of financial assets and liabilities that are carried at 
amortised cost, and therefore excludes financial instruments that are measured and disclosed at fair value on a 
recurring basis. 

 
 Level 1 

$ 
Level 2 

$ 
Level 3 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     
 As of September 30, 2022     
Financial Assets     
Investment Securities:     
FVTPL – 10,673,665 – 10,673,665 
FVOCI – unquoted – – 1,538,986 1,538,986 
     
Total Assets – 10,673,665 1,538,986 12,212,651 
     

 

 
Level 1 

$ 

 
Level 2 

$ 

 
Level 3 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
     
As of September 30, 2021     
Financial Assets     
Investment Securities:      
FVTPL – 11,289,075 – 11,289,075 
FVOCI – unquoted – – 1,271,740 1,271,740 
     
Total Assets – 11,289,075 1,271,740 12,560,815 

 
There were no significant transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the respective periods.
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities…continued 
 
5.5.1 Fair value hierarchy…continued 
 

Level 3 fair value measurements 
 
Unobservable inputs used in measuring fair values 

 
Valuation technique Significant unobservable Inter-relationship between key 

unobservable inputs and fair value 
measurement 

inputs 

 
Asset based approach with 
discounts applied where prudent, 
with subsequent consideration of 
the Bank’s shareholding 

 
Net assets  
 
Shareholding percentage 

 
The estimated fair value would 
increase/(decrease) if:  
 
Net assets were higher/(lower) 
Shareholding increases/(decreases) 

 
5.5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
 

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses 
them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised. 

 
 

Level 2 
$’000 

Total fair 
 Values 

$’000 

Total 
Carrying 
Amount 

$’000 
    
September 30, 2022 
 

   
Assets    
Cash and balances with the Central Bank 167,872 167,872 167,872 
Due from other banks 74,463 74,463 74,463 
Loans and advances 131,740 131,740 120,572 
Amortised cost investment securities 20,830 20,830 20,830 
    
 394,905 394,905 383,737 
    
Liabilities    
Customers’ deposits 324,297 324,297 324,297 



ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Notes to Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

85 ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Table of Contents

ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

(51)

5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities…continued 
 
5.5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value…continued

 

Level 2 
$’000 

Total fair 
Values 

$’000 

Total 
Carrying 
Amount 

$’000 
September 30, 2021 
 

   
Assets    
Cash and balances with the Central Bank 218,278 218,278 218,278 
Due from other banks 5,643 5,643 5,643 
Loans and advances 117,240 117,240 118,037 
Amortised cost investment securities 5,668 5,668 5,668 
    
 324,829 324,829 347,626 
    
Liabilities    
Deposits due to customers 294,809 294,809 294,809 

 
Financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss 
 
For financial assets classified as FVTPL, the Bank measures the change in fair value attributable to changes in 
credit risk, as the difference between the total change in the fair value of the instrument during the period and 
the change in fair value calculated using the appropriate risk-free yield curves. 
 
There were no significant changes in the fair value of the financial assets classified as FVTPL attributable to 
changes in credit risk during the period ended September 30, 2022 (September 30, 2021 – NIL), and 
cumulatively since initial recognition of the assets. 
 
Net gains from financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial instruments classified as FVTPL, are measured at fair value with realised and unrealised gains and 
losses recognised in non-interest income. 
 

 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

    
Government and state-owned enterprises debt 68,919  490,317 
Money market instruments –  – 
    
Net gains for financial instruments classified as fair value 
through profit or loss 

 
68,919 

  
490,317 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2022, $68,919 of net fair value gains on financial assets classified as FVTPL, 
were included in non-interest income (2021: $490,317). 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.6 Financial assets and liabilities by category 
 

 Amortised 
 Cost 

$ 
FVTPL 

$ 
FVOCI 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     

As of September 30, 2022     
     
Assets     
Due from other banks and other financial 
institutions 74,463,213 – – 74,463,213 
Investment securities 20,829,566 10,673,665 1,538,986 33,042,217 
Loans and advances 120,572,255 – – 120,572,255 
Other financial assets 119,997 – – 119,997 
     
Total financial assets 215,985,031 10,673,665 1,538,986 228,197,682 
 
 

    

 Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost Total 

   
Liabilities   
Customers’ deposits 324,297,255 324,297,255 
Other liabilities and accrued expenses 8,175,296 8,175,296 
   
Total financial liabilities 332,472,551 332,472,551 

 Amortised 
 Cost 

$ 
FVTPL 

$ 
FVOCI 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     

As of September 30, 2021     
Assets     
Due from other banks and other financial 
institutions 5,643,449 – – 5,643,449 
Investment securities 5,668,346 11,289,075 1,271,740 18,229,161 
Loans and advances 118,037,452 – – 118,037,452 
Other financial assets 6,095,158 – – 6,095,158 
     
Total financial assets 135,444,405 11,289,075 1,271,740 148,005,220 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.6 Financial assets and liabilities by category…continued
 

 
 
 
 
 

Financial 
liabilities 

      
 
  

Total 
   
Liabilities   
Customers’ deposits 294,809,352 294,809,352 
Other liabilities and accrued expenses 7,356,516 7,356,516 
   
Total financial liabilities 302,165,868 302,165,868 

 
5.7 Operational risk 
 

‘Operational risk’ is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the 
Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market 
and liquidity risks – e.g., those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of 
corporate behavior. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations. 
 
The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage 
to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, Bank policy requires 
compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 
 
The Board of Directors has created a Governance and Executive Committee, which is responsible for the 
development and implementation of controls to address operational risk. This responsibility is supported by the 
development of overall Bank standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas: 
 
– requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of 

transactions; 
 
– requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions; 
 
– compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 
 
– documentation of controls and procedures; 
 
– requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 

procedures to address the risks identified; 
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5 Financial risk management…continued 
 
5.7 Operational risk…continued 
 

– requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action; 
 
– development of contingency plans; 
 
– training and professional development; 
 
– ethical and business standards; 
 
– information technology and cyber risks; and 
 
– risk mitigation, including insurance where this is cost-effective. 
 
Compliance with Bank standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by Internal Audit. 
The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the Audit and Risk Committee. 

 
 
6 Capital management policies and procedures 
 

Capital management is a proactive process that ensures that the Bank has and remains able to generate or raise 
sufficient capital on a timely and cost-effective basis to underpin its risks and ultimately protect depositors and 
other creditors from unexpected losses. 
 
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the 
Statement of Financial Position, are: 
 
- To comply with the capital requirements set by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB); 
- To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide 

returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 
- To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
 
In accordance with the Banking Act, the Bank is required to maintain a minimum paid up share capital of $20 
million and a total regulatory capital to adjusted risk-weighted assets ratio of 8%. 
 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank’s management, employing 
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision as implemented 
by the ECCB for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the ECCB on a quarterly basis. 
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6 Capital management policies and procedures…continued 
 

The Bank’s regulatory capital as managed by management is divided into two tiers: 
 
• Tier 1 Capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriation of retained earnings; 

and 
• Tier 2 Capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowance and unrealized gains 

arising on the fair valuation of security instruments held as FVOCI. 
 
The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the 
nature of – and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with – each asset and 
counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-
balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses. 
 
The table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank as of September 
30, 2022 and September 30, 2021.  During those two years, the Bank complied with all of the externally imposed 
capital requirements to which it is subjected. 

 
  2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
     
Tier 1 Capital     
Share capital  20,178,995  20,178,995 
Statutory reserve  15,999,563  15,337,761 
General banking and other reserves  513,765  1,405,572 
Retained earnings  25,344,495  24,576,264  
     
Total qualifying Tier 1 Capital  62,036,818  61,498,592 
     
Tier 2 Capital     
Revaluation reserve: FVOCI investments  834,196  641,779 
Reserve for loan loss  1,878,979  – 
     
Total qualifying Tier 2 Capital  2,713,175  641,779 
     
Total regulatory capital  64,749,993  62,140,371 
     
Risk-weighted assets     
On-statement of financial position  102,081,000  112,867,000 
Off-statement of financial position  12,442,290   18,833,056  
     
Total risk-weighted assets  114,523,290  131,700,056 
     
Basel ratio  56.5%  47.2% 
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7 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty 
 

When preparing financial statements, management makes a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
 
Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS and information about estimates and assumptions 
that have the most significant effect on the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses, and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment in these 
financial statements is provided below. Actual results may be substantially different.. 

 
(a)     Impairment losses on loans and advances 
 
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost and 
FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic 
conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). 
Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is detailed in note 
4. 
 
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring 
ECL, such as: 
 
- The Bank’s criteria for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and hence 

whether impairment allowances for financial assets should be measured on a lifetime expected credit loss 
(ECL) basis. 

 
- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of expected credit losses, 

including post model adjustments. 
 
- Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as 

unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs. 
 
- Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios for each 

type of product or market and the associated ECL. 
 
- Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 
 
To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-10%, the provision would be 
estimated $462,848 lower (2021: $192,895 lower) or $621,635 higher (2021: $288,318 higher). 
 
Incorporation of forward-looking information 
 
The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into the measurement of expected credit losses (ECL) 
through a scorecard model. The model is applied for each segment of the portfolio: Personal Loans, Commercial 
Loans, Mortgages, Overdrafts and Credit Cards. 
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7 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation 
uncertainty…continued 

 
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances…continued 
 
The Bank applied experienced judgment to select macro-economic factors that would most likely impact credit 
risk. The Bank leveraged the 2019 IMF’s country report on the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union and 
Caribbean Development Bank’s 2019 economic outlook on Grenada to provide macroeconomic projections 
on the following factors: 
 
- GDP 
- Inflation 
- Unemployment Rate 
- Lending rates 
 
The adjustment of forward-looking information is estimated after considering various outlooks on the macro-
economic factors (negative, positive, neutral), expressed as a percentage from 0 to 100, representing the impact 
of the outlook on credit risk. For a neutral or stable outlook, the factor is 0%. Negative outlooks will have a 
factor of 20% (increase to the ECL estimate, reflecting an adverse economic outlook) and positive outlooks 
will have a factor of -20% (decrease to the ECL estimate, reflecting a more favorable economic environment). 
 
The Bank estimates the macroeconomic outlook over a twelve-month forecast period. Where forecasts were 
not available, a zero change was applied. 
 
(b) Classification of financial assets 
 
Assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual 
terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
(c) Estimate of pension benefits 
 
Management’s estimate of the defined benefit obligation is based on a number of critical underlying assumptions 
such as standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount rate and anticipation of future salary increases. Variation 
in these assumptions may significantly impact the defined benefit obligation amount and the annual defined 
benefit expenses. 
 
The Bank determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should 
be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the 
pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Bank considers the interest rates of 
government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms 
to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. Any changes in these assumptions will 
impact the carrying amount of the pension obligation. 
 
Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional 
information is disclosed in note 25. 
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7 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation 
uncertainty…continued 
 
(d) Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal 
is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length for similar assets or 
observable market prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based 
on a DCF model. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as 
the future cash inflows. 
 
(e) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments where recorded current market transactions or observable market data are not available, 
are recorded at fair value using valuation techniques. Fair value is determined using a valuation model that has 
been tested against prices or inputs to actual market transactions and using the Bank’s best estimates of the 
most appropriate model assumptions. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary from the actual 
prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the end of the reporting period. 
 
(f) Revaluation of land and buildings 
 
The Bank measures its land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognised in 
other comprehensive income. The Bank engages independent valuation specialists to determine fair value of 
its land and buildings. The valuer uses judgment in the application of valuation techniques such as 
replacement cost and the market price of comparable properties, as applicable in each case. 
 
(g) Current and deferred taxes 
 
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes including any liabilities for tax 
audit issues. There are some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. 
 
In calculating the deferred tax asset, management uses judgment to determine the possibility that future taxable 
profits will be available to facilitate utilization of temporary tax differences which may arise.
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8 Cash and balances with the Central Bank 
 

 Note 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

     
Cash on hand  7,731,572  7,954,742 
Balances with the ECCB other than mandatory 
reserve deposits 

 
126,420,734 

 
178,373,471 

     
Included in cash and cash equivalents 27 134,152,306  186,328,213 
Mandatory reserve deposits with the ECCB  33,719,450  31,950,176 
     
Total cash and balances with the Central Bank  167,871,756  218,278,389 
     
Current  167,871,756  218,278,389 
 
In accordance with Article 33 of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (“ECCB”) Agreement 1983, the Bank is 
required to maintain reserves of cash and other deposits with ECCB of 6% of the average of the last four weeks 
customer deposits and other similar liabilities. As of September 30, 2022 the balance was $19,457,835 (2021: 
$17,688,561). 
 
In accordance with sections 28 and 29 of the Payment Systems Act, the Bank entered into a Participant Collateral 
and Settlement Agreement and is required to maintain collateral with the ECCB to use the Eastern Caribbean 
Automatic Clearing House (“ECACH”). The collateral is calculated annually by ECCB based on a multiple of the 
average daily gross obligations over a period predetermined by the ECCB, in consultation with the ECACH and 
the Bank. The Bank is required to maintain the collateral with the ECCB. As of September 30, 2022 and 2021, 
the balance was $14,261,615. 
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9 Due from other banks 
 

 Note 2022 
$  2021 

$ 
 

Term deposits and operating accounts with banks with 
original maturities of 3 months or less 

 

67,996,409 
 

5,643,449 
Items in the course of collection from other banks 

 
973,594  − 

    
Included in cash and cash equivalents  27 68,970,003  5,643,449 
 
Term deposits with other banks with original maturities 
greater than 3 months 

 

5,499,079 
 − 

Less: Provision for expected credit losses 
 

(63,285)  − 
 

74,405,797  5,643,449 
 
Interest receivable 

 
57,416  − 

 
Total due from other banks 

 
74,463,213  5,643,449 

 
Current 

 
74,463,213  5,643,449 

Non-current 
 

−  − 
 

74,463,213  5,643,449 
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10 Related party balances and transactions 
 

Related party definition 
 
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Bank. 
 
a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Bank if that person: 
 

i) has control or joint control over the Bank; 
 
ii) has significant influence over the Bank; or 
 
iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Bank, or of a parent of the Bank.  
 

b) An entity is related to the Bank if any of the following conditions applies: 
 
i) The entity and the Bank are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 

and fellow subsidiary is related to the others); 
 
ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member); 
 
iv) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party; 
 
iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity; 
 
v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Bank or an entity 

related to the Bank; 
 
v) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); 
 
vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or 
 
viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is part, provides key management personnel services 

to the Bank or its parent. 
 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties, regardless of 
whether a price is charged. 
 
Related party transactions 
 
A number of banking transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These 
include loans, deposits and other transactions. With the exception of the amounts due from/to parent company, 
these transactions were carried out on commercial terms and at market rates. 
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10 Related party balances and transactions…continued 
 
Related party transactions…continued 
 
The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end and related expenses and income 
for the year are as follows: 
 
Key management personnel and Directors 
 
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of ACB Grenada Bank Ltd., directly or indirectly. 
 
  2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
Loans     
Directors and key management personnel  1,851,430  1,922,473 
     
Deposits and other liabilities     
Directors and key management personnel  48,642  43,880 
Deposits with parent company  56,904,849  11,867,351 
     
  56,953,491  11,911,231 
     
Interest income     
Directors and key management personnel  70,383  218,995 
     
Interest expense     
Directors and key management personnel  469  1,593 
     
Other operating expenses     
Management fees paid to affiliated companies  900,000  602,255 
Directors’ fees and expenses  145,220  85,139 
     
  1,045,220  687,394 
     
Due to parent company  6,180,468  10,372,920 
     
 
Amounts due to parent are non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. 
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11 Loans and advances 
 

  2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

     
Mortgages  72,541,940  82,762,413  
Commercial/corporate  26,364,269  15,785,101 
Retail/personal  24,837,043  19,055,648 
Credit card advances  1,628,600  – 
Overdrafts  1,406,561  8,670,743 
Other loans  –  307,207 
     
Gross loans  126,778,413  126,581,112 
     
Less: Provision for expected credit losses  (7,081,033)  (8,720,129) 
     
  119,697,380  117,860,983 
     
Interest receivable  2,124,972  1,620,328 
Unearned interest  –  (15,833) 
Deferred fees  (1,250,097)  (1,428,026) 
     
Total loans and advances, net  120,572,255  118,037,452 
     
Current  18,488,148  13,561,582 
Non-current  108,290,265  113,019,530 
     
Gross loans  126,778,413  126,581,112 

 
Interest rates 
 
The weighted average effective interest rate on performing loans and advances excluding overdrafts as of September 
30, 2022 was 5.78% (2021: 5.86%), and overdrafts were 10.41% (2021: 4.82%). 
 
Loan write-off 
 
There were no loans written off during the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021. 

 



ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Notes to Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

98 BUILDING...
BIGGER, BETTER, BOLDER

Table of Contents

ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

(64)

11 Loans and advances…continued 
 

Provision for expected credit losses 
 

The following tables reconcile the opening and closing provision for expected credit losses for 
loans and commitments, by stage. 

 
September 30, 2021 

 
Provision for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) 

 
 Performing Impaired 

 
 

 
Stage 1 

$ 
Stage 2 

$ 
Stage 3 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     

     
Balance at beginning of year 1,674,651 6,251,406 6,383,121 14,309,178 
Provision for/(recovery of) credit 
losses 503,899 (6,117,099) 24,151 (5,589,049) 

     
Balance at end of year 2,178,550 134,307 6,407,272 8,720,129 

 
 

September 30, 2022 
 

Provision for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) 
 

 Performing Impaired 
 

 
 

Stage 1 
$ 

Stage 2 
$ 

Stage 3 
$ 

Total 
$ 

     
     

Balance at beginning of year  2,178,550 134,307 6,407,272 8,720,129 
Recovery of credit losses (566,221) (40,418) (1,032,457) (1,639,096) 

     
Balance at end of year 1,612,329 93,889 5,374,815 7,081,033 
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12 Other assets 
 

  2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

     
Prepayments  119,997  56,556 
Miscellaneous receivables  –  6,095,158 
     
Total other assets  119,997  6,151,714 
     
Current  119,997  6,151,714 
Non-current  –  – 
     
  119,997  6,151,714 

 
 
13 Investment Securities 
 

  2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

Securities measured at amortised cost     
Debt securities     
- Unlisted  11,032,950  – 
- Listed  9,768,720  5,594,582 
Interest receivable  516,841  117,761 
Less: allowance for impairment  (488,945)  (43,997) 
     
Total securities at amortised cost  20,829,566  5,668,346 
     
Securities measured at fair value through OCI     
Equity securities     
- Unlisted  1,538,986  1,271,740 
     
Total equity securities  1,538,986  1,271,740 
     
Total securities at fair value through OCI  1,538,986  1,271,740 
     
Securities measured at fair value through P&L     
Debt securities     
- Listed  10,337,575  10,907,874 
Interest receivable  336,090  381,201 
     
Total equity securities  10,673,665  11,289,075 
     
Total securities at FVTPL  10,673,665  11,289,075 
     
Total investment securities  33,042,217  18,229,161 
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13 Investment securities…continued 
 
13.1 Movement in securities 

 
 

Fair value 
through OCI 

$ 

Fair Value 
Through 

P&L 
$ 

Amortised 
Cost 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     
As of October 31, 2020 1,271,740 11,779,393 5,409,351 18,460,484 
Movement in accrued interest – – (213,983) (213,983) 
Change in fair value – (490,318) 516,975 26,657 
Movement in allowance for impairment – – (43,997) (43,997) 
     
As of September 30, 2021 1,271,740 11,289,075 5,668,346 18,229,161 

 
 

 
Fair value 

through OCI 
$ 

Fair Value 
Through 

P&L 
$ 

Amortised 
Cost 

$ 
Total 

$ 
     
As of October 1, 2021 1,271,740 11,289,075 5,668,346 18,229,161 
Purchases – – 16,988,870 16,988,870 
Adjustments – – 124,617 124,617 
Principal repayments – (1,804,724) (1,906,400) (3,711,124) 
Movement in accrued interest – (45,111) 399,081 353,970 
Change in fair value 267,246 1,234,425 – 1,501,671 
Movement in allowance for impairment – – (444,948) (444,948) 
     
As of September 30, 2022 1,538,986 10,673,665 20,829,566 33,042,217 
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15 Leases 
 

The Bank leases various offices, branches and other premises. These leases have various terms, escalation and renewal 
rights and are negotiated on an individual basis. These lease agreements do not include any clauses that impose 
restrictions on the Bank’s ability to pay dividends, engage in debt financing transactions, or enter into further lease 
agreements. 
 
Some lease contracts provide the Bank with the option to terminate after payment of a predetermined amount, 
allowing the Bank to exit the contracts prior to expiration. Extension options at the discretion of RBC are also made 
available to lengthen existing lease terms. The Bank is reasonably certain to exercise extension options for certain retail 
locations and leases of automated teller machines (ATMs). Extension options for real estate leases tend to be at 
market rates and subject to negotiation prior to expiration of the initial lease term and therefore are not included in 
the measurement of lease liabilities at the commencement of the lease. 

 
    
Right-of-use leased assets Right of 

Use of 
Asset 

 
Lease 

Liability 
    
Year ended September 30, 2021    
Balance as of October 31, 2020 687,607  702,716 
Transition on acquisition 116,673  – 
Depreciation charge (229,641)  – 
Interest expense –  (12,769) 
Principal payments –  (92,922) 
    
Closing net book value 574,639  597,025 
    
    
    
 Right of 

Use of Asset 
 Lease 

Liability 
    
Year ended September 30, 2022    
Balance as of October 1, 2021 574,639  597,025 
Addition: New Lease 947,914  1,567,557 
Early Termination (180,612)  (459,308) 
Depreciation charge (378,102)  – 
Interest expense –  23,397 
Principal payments –  (468,309) 
    
Closing net book value 963,839  1,260,362 
    

 
 



ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Notes to Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

105 ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Table of Contents

ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

(71)

16 Customers’ deposits 
 

 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

    
Product type    
Savings 144,506,315  139,863,036 
Current accounts 140,101,452  113,639,790 
Term deposits 39,603,536  40,895,989 
    
 324,211,303  294,398,815 
    
Interest payable 85,952  410,537 
    
Total customers’ deposits 324,297,255  294,809,352 
    
Current 324,161,052  294,781,820 
Non-current 136,203  27,532 
    
 324,297,255  294,809,352 

 
 
17 Provisions and other liabilities 
 

 Note 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

     
Unpresented cheques  2,301,818  2,329,294 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities  3,705,584  2,522,324 
Unclaimed balances  1,269,729  1,349,178 
Provisions for off-balance sheet items 26 898,165  1,155,547 
Statutory deductions payable  –  173 
     
Total provisions and other liabilities  8,175,296  7,356,516 
     
Current  8,175,296  7,356,516 
Non-current  –  – 
     
  8,175,296  7,356,516 
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18 Taxation 
 
 

The tax on operating profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the nominal tax rate as follows: 
 
 

 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

    
Income before taxation 4,072,389  7,281,085 
    
Prima facie tax calculated at corporation tax rate of 28% (2021: 28%) 1,140,269  2,038,704 
Income not subject to tax (985,665)  (516,324) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (241,364)  168,625 
Effect of other permanent differences (391,440)  152,817 
Unutilised tax losses carried forward 709,201  – 
Depreciation/capital allowance 183,922  – 
Business taxes 112,007  – 
Withholding taxes 236,447  – 
Prior year over provision of deferred tax –  226,335 
Current year under provision - deferred tax –  (858,472) 
    
Actual income tax expense 763,377  1,211,685 

 
 

Represented as follows:    
Current tax expenses/(credit) 348,453  (105,244) 
Deferred tax expense 414,924  1,316,929 
    
 763,377  1,211,685 

 
 

 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

Income tax recoverable    
Income tax recoverable, beginning of year 1,075,825  – 
Current tax (expenses)/credit (348,453)  105,244 
Understatement of tax credit in prior years 1,466  970,581 
    
Income tax recoverable, end of year 728,838  1,075,825 
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18 Taxation…continued 
 
18.1 The deferred tax asset results from differences between the tax value and book value of the following 

items 
 
 
 

2022 
$ 

 
2021 

$ 
    
The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:    
    
Balance, beginning of year 185,801  1,883,193 
Statement of Income or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income or Loss (28,248)  1,023,652 
Premises and equipment 183,922  (118,052) 
Allowance for credit losses (526,114)  (1,179,556) 
Post-retirement benefit obligations 302,329  (1,185,915) 
Changes in fair value (74,829)  (237,521) 
    
Balance, end of year 42,861  185,801 
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19 Share capital 
 

 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

Authorised: 
50,000,000 ordinary shares of no-par value.  

 
 

    
Issued and outstanding:    
Issued and fully paid shares: 20,178,995 (2021: 20,178,995) 20,178,995  20,178,995 
    

 
 
20 Statutory reserve 

 
The Statutory Reserve of $15,999,563 (2021: $15,337,761) is required to be maintained under the provisions of the 
Banking Act defined in Note 1, at a maximum amount equal to that of the Bank’s paid up share capital. 
 
Where the reserve is less than the share capital, the Bank is required to transfer to the reserve, a minimum of 20% of 
profit for the year. This reserve is not available for distribution as dividend or any form of distribution. 

 
 
21 Other reserves 
 

 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

    
Reserve for interest on non-performing loans 1,878,979  – 
Securities revaluation reserve, net of tax 834,196  641,779 
Other post-employment plans reserve 449,292  542,934 
Reserve on revaluation of property and equipment 220,413  220,413 
Pension reserve (155,940)  642,225 
    
Total other reserves 3,226,940  2,047,351 

 
An appropriation of retained earnings to a reserve for loan loss is only done where the ECCB provision exceeds the 
Bank’s provision for expected credit losses for loans. Accordingly, where the provision for expected credit losses for 
loans exceeds the ECCB provision, no appropriation is required. 
 
Securities revaluation reserve represents mark-to-market adjustments on securities held as FVOCI. 
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22 Earnings per share 
 

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number 
of Ordinary shares in issue during the year. 
 
  2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
     
Income attributable to shareholders of the Bank  3,309,012  6,069,400 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  20,178,995  20,178,995 
     
Basic and diluted earnings per share  0.16  0.30 
 
The Bank has no potential ordinary shares which would give rise to a dilution of the basic earnings per share. 
Therefore, diluted earnings per share would be the same as basic earnings per share. 

 
 
23 Other operating income 
 

  2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

     
Fee and commission income  2,162,714  2,510,252 
Foreign exchange earnings  1,758,063  2,278,008 
Unrealized gains on FVTPL securities  851,813  985,981 
Loan write-off recoveries  714,647  1,432,374 
Miscellaneous income  76,317  107 
Dividend income  –  4,758 
     
Total other operating income  5,563,554  7,211,480 
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24 General and administrative expenses 
 

 
 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
     
Salaries and related costs   2,973,379  4,118,427
Non-credit losses  1,608,327  231,532
Legal and professional fees  1,104,684  1,520,270
Service charge for corresponding banks  461,764  327,631
Telephone charges  429,195  555,324
Four C’s operating expenses  421,164  –
Rent  368,133  83,824 
Licenses and taxes  326,283  366,543
Advertising and promotion  269,108  99,197
Audit fees and expenses  249,996  715,000
Utilities  187,375  161,214
Printing and stationery expenses  141,972  214,204
Repairs and maintenance  130,718  325,895
Cleaning expenses  118,584  158,011
Security services  114,937  157,280
Travel and entertainment  70,895  169,296
Covid-19 expenses  59,930  41,635
ECACH charges  55,869  40,543
Subscription and fees  46,939  39,226
Miscellaneous expenses  46,616  33,863
Insurance expense  45,650  23,552
Wire service expenses  33,112  6,792
Shareholders' meeting expenses  30,486  87,538
ECCB cash expenses  25,956  18,339
Software operating expenses  20,952  42,796
Vehicle expenses  20,638  29,774
Night depository security  16,261  21,061
Strategic Planning Expenses  10,667  –
Commission  7,220  –
Donations  3,875  –
Card expenses  –  888,049 
Loss on disposal of asset  –  123,724 
     
Total general and administrative expenses  9,400,685  10,600,540 
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25 Pension plan 
 

The Bank sponsors pension and post-employment benefits to permanent employees. The defined benefit pension plan 
provides pension benefits based on years of service, contributions and earnings at retirement. RBC Investment 
Management (Caribbean) Limited is the investment manager for the assets of the pension plan and Eckler Ltd. is the 
record keeper. 
 
The other post-retirement benefit plan provides health and dental insurance coverage for permanent employees. 
These plans are funded by the Bank and valuations of the plans are performed at each fiscal year by an independent 
actuary. 
 
Recognition of net asset in the Statement of Financial Position 
 
The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as at the valuation date are as follows: 
 

 

 Other post – 
 Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

     
September 30, 2022  
Fair value of plan assets  – 9,166,505 9,166,505
Present value of defined benefit obligation  (795,320) (8,083,767) (8,879,087) 
     
Net Asset recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position 

 
(795,320) 1,082,738 287,418

 
 

 

 Other post – 
Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

     
September 30, 2021  
Fair value of plan assets  – 9,053,621 9,053,621
Present value of defined benefit obligation  (621,187) (7,227,909) (7,849,096) 
     
Net Asset recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position 

 
(621,187) 1,825,712 1,204,525
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25 Pension plan…continued 
 

The movements in the net asset recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
 

 Other post – 
Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

September 30, 2022    
As of beginning of year (621,187) 1,825,712 1,204,525 
Employer contributions 12,100 146,772 158,872 
Employer direct benefit payments    
Defined benefit cost included in income Remeasurements 
included in Other comprehensive (56,174) 218,815 162,641 
(Loss)/income (130,059) (1,108,561) (1,238,620) 
    
As of end of year (795,320) 1,082,738 287,418 

 
 

 Other post – 
Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

September 30, 2021    
As of beginning of year (1,005,000) 131,000 (874,000) 
Employer contributions 11,092 47,854 58,946 
Employer direct benefit payments – – – 
Defined benefit cost included in income Remeasurements 
included in Other comprehensive (94,126) (222,668) (316,794) 
Income 466,847 1,869,526 2,336,373 
    
As of end of year (621,187) 1,825,712 1,204,525 
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25 Pension plan…continued 
 

The movements in the fair value of plan assets over the period are as follows: 
 

 Other post – 
Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

    
September 30, 2022    
As of beginning of year – 9,053,621 9,053,621 
Interest income – 634,984 634,984 
Return on plan assets – (557,254) (557,254) 
Employer contributions – 293,545 293,545 
Employee contributions – – – 
Benefit payments – (258,391) (258,391) 
Administrative expenses – – – 
    
As of end of year – 9,166,505 9,166,505 

 
 

 Other post – 
Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

    
September 30, 2021    
As of beginning of year – 10,067,000 10,067,000 
Interest income – 427,758 427,758 
Return on plan assets – (318,593) (318,593) 
Employer contributions – 96,004 96,004 
Employee contributions – – – 
Benefit payments – (1,187,723) (1,187,723) 
Administrative expenses – (30,825) (30,825) 
    
As of end of year – 9,053,621 9,053,621 

 
 
 

 



ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 

Notes to Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

114 BUILDING...
BIGGER, BETTER, BOLDER

Table of Contents

ACB Grenada Bank Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended September 30, 2022 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

(80)

25 Pension plan…continued 
 

The movements in the post-retirement obligations over the period are as follows: 
 

 Other post – 
Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

    
September 30, 2022    
As of beginning of year (621,187) (7,227,909) (7,849,096) 
Current service cost (12,272) (100,962) (113,234) 
Interest cost (43,902) (461,979) (505,881) 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) remeasurements:    
Effects of changes in financial assumptions (130,059) (536,947) (667,006) 
Effect of experience adjustments – (14,361) (14,361) 
Effect of changes in demographic adjustments – – – 
Benefit payments from employer 12,100 – 12,100 
Participant contributions – – – 
Benefit payments from plan assets – 258,391 258,391 
    
As of end of year (795,320) (8,083,767) (8,879,087) 

 
 

 Other post – 
Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

    
September 30, 2021    
As of beginning of year (1,005,000) (9,936,000) (10,941,000) 
Current service cost (46,200) (271,200) (317,400) 
Interest cost (47,926) (396,550) (444,476) 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) remeasurements:    
Effects of changes in financial assumptions 426,136 1,476,332 1,902,468 
Effect of experience adjustments 40,711 711,786 752,497 
Effect of changes in demographic adjustments – – – 
Benefit payments from employer 11,092 – 11,092 
Participant contributions – – – 
Benefit payments from plan assets – 1,187,723 1,187,723 
    
As of end of year (621,187) (7,227,909) (7,849,096) 
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25 Pension plan…continued 
 

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Income or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income or Loss 
are as follows: 

 
 Other post – 

Employment 
plans 

$ 
Pension 

$ 
Total 

$ 
    
September 30, 2022    
    
Defined benefit cost included in income:    
Current service cost (12,272) (100,962) (113,234) 
Interest income – 634,984 634,984 
Interest expense (43,902) (461,979) (505,881) 
Administrative expenses – – – 
    
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in 
income (56,174) 72,043 15,869 
    
Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive 
income:    
Effect of changes in financial assumptions (139,059) (536,947) (676,006) 
Effect of experience adjustments – (571,614) (571,614) 
    
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other 
comprehensive income/(loss) (139,059) (1,108,561) (1,247,620) 
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25 Pension plan…continued 
 

 Other post – 
Employment 

plans 
$ 

Pension 
$ 

Total 
$ 

    
September 30, 2021    
    
Defined benefit cost included in income:    
Current service cost (46,200) (271,200) (317,400) 
Interest income – 427,758 427,758 
Interest expense (47,926) (396,550) (444,476) 
Administrative expenses – (30,825) (30,825) 
    
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in 
income (94,126) (270,817) (364,943) 
    
Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive 
income:    
Effect of changes in financial assumptions 426,137 1,476,332 1,902,469 
Effect of experience adjustments 40,711 393,193 433,904 
    
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other 
comprehensive income/(loss) 466,848 1,869,525 2,336,373 
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25 Pension plan…continued 
 

Defined benefit pension plan assets are invested prudently in order to meet our long-term pension obligations at a 
reasonable cost. The asset mix policy was developed within an asset/liability framework. Factors taken into 
consideration in developing the asset allocation include but are not limited to the following: 
 
(i) the nature of the underlying benefit obligations, including the duration and term profile of the liabilities; 
 
(ii) the member demographics, including normal retirements, terminations, and deaths;  
 
(iii) the financial position of the health plans; 

 
(iv) the diversification benefits obtained by the inclusion of multiple asset classes; and 
 
(v) expected asset returns, including assets and liability volatility and correlations. 

 
Plan assets comprise: 

 
 2022 

Percentage of total plan 
 
 

2021 
Percentage of total plan 

 Fair value 
$’0000 

assets 
% 

Fair value 
$’0000 

assets 
% 

     
Debt securities     
Domestic government bonds 1,401 15.3 1,503 16.6 
Corporate and other bonds 4,755       51.9         5,395 59.6 
Alternative investments and other 3,010        32.8         2,155 23.8 
     
Total 9,166         100 9,053 100 

 
Significant assumptions 
 
The methodologies to determine significant assumptions used in calculating the defined benefit pension and other 
post-employment expense are as follows: 
 
Overall expected long-term rate of return on assets 
The assumed expected rate of return on assets is determined by considering long-term returns on fixed income 
securities combined with an estimated equity risk premium. The expected long-term return for each asset class is then 
weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption 
for the portfolio. 
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25 Pension plan…continued 
 

Significant assumptions 
 
Discount rate 
All future expected benefit payments at each measurement date are discounted at spot rates based on local bond 
market derived yield curve. The discount rate is the equivalent single rate that produces the same discounted value as 
that determined using the entire discount curve. This methodology does not rely on assumptions regarding 
reinvestment returns. 
 
  2022  2021 
     
Discount rates – medical  7.00%  7.00% 
Discount rates – pension  4.50%  4.50% 
Health care costs trend  5.00%  5.00% 
Salary increases – pension  2.25%  2.25% 
 
 
Contributions for the year 
 
Contributions to the retirement benefit plan for the 2022 financial year are estimated to be $135,000 (2021 - $123,000). 
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25 Pension plan…continued 
 

Sensitivity analysis 
 
Assumptions adopted can have a significant effect on the obligations and expense for defined benefit pension and 
post-employment benefit plans. The following table presents the sensitivity analysis of key assumptions holding all 
other factors constant. 
 
Benefit obligation 
 

 
 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
     
Pension Plan:   
Impact of 1% decrease in discount rate  8,554,883  7,699,025 
Impact of 1% increase in discount rate  7,722,360  6,866,502 
Impact of 1% (2021 - 0.5%) decrease in rate of increase in future 
compensation 

 
7,999,044 

 
7,143,186 

Impact of 1% (2021 - 0.5%) increase in rate of increase in future 
compensation 

 
8,178,356 

 
7,322,768 

Impact of 1 year increase in life expectancy  8,132,031  7,257,384
   
Other post-employment plans:   
Impact of 1% decrease in discount rate  1,054,661  797,655
Impact of 1% increase in discount rate  613,670  494,084
Impact of 1% (2021 - 0.5%) decrease in rate of increase in future 
compensation 

 
710,365

 
554,653

Impact of 1% (2021 - 0.5%) increase in rate of increase in future 
compensation 

 
895,241

 
699,864

Impact of 1 year increase in life expectancy  819,158  639,888
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26 Contingencies and commitments 
 
26.1 Customers’ liability under acceptances, guarantees and indemnities 
 

These represent the Bank’s potential liability, for which there are equal and offsetting claims against its customers in the 
event of a call on these commitments. These amounts are not reflected in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 

 
 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
     
Bonds  3,704,925  7,601,814
Guarantees  2,067,923  2,067,923 
     
  5,772,848  9,669,737
 
As of September 30, 2022 allowance for credit losses for customers’ liabilities under acceptances, guarantees and 
indemnities amounted to $898,165 (2021: $1,155,547) (see note 17). 
 

26.2 Credit related commitments 
 
The contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to extend credit to 
customers are listed below: 

 
  Up to 1 year  Total 
     
As of September 30, 2022     
Loan commitments (undrawn)  6,669,442  6,669,442 
     
As of September 30, 2021     
Loan commitments (undrawn)  9,163,319  9,163,319 
     
     
  Up to 1 year  Total 
     
As of September 30, 2022     
Financial guarantee contracts  5,772,848  5,772,848 
     
As of September 30, 2021     
Financial guarantee contracts  9,669,737  9,669,737 
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26 Contingencies and commitments…continued 
 

26.3 Capital commitments 
 

As of September 30, 2022 and 2021, there were no capital commitments. 
 
 

27 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 
Notes 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
     
Cash and balances with the Central Bank 8 134,152,306  186,328,213
Due from other banks 9 68,970,003  5,643,449
   
Cash and cash equivalents  203,122,309  191,971,662
   

 
 
28 Dividends 
 

No dividend was paid during the year ended September 30, 2022. A dividend in respect of the 2021 financial year of 
$1,517,350 was recorded and paid in 2023. This represented $0.075 per share. 
 
The dividend proposed in respect of the 2022 financial year-end is $0.04 for each unit of paid up share capital, or EC 
$827,253. The separate financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2022 do not reflect this proposed dividend 
which, if ratified, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending September 
30, 2024. 
 
 

29 Comparative 
 

The classification of certain items in the financial statements has been changed from the prior year to achieve a clearer 
or more appropriate presentation.  The comparative figures have been similarly reformatted and reclassified in order to 
achieve comparability with the current year. 

 
 
30 Events after the reporting date 
 

No events have occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date and through the date of the auditor’s report that would 
require adjustment to or disclosure in these financial statements or, although not affecting the financial statements or 
disclosures have causes or are likely to cause any material related change, adverse or otherwise, in the financial position 
or results of operations of the Bank. 
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